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WILLITS CITY COUNCIL 
SPECIAL MEETING AGENDA 

MARCH 21, 2016  ♦  6:30 P.M.  ♦  COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
 
 
 
1.  OPENING MATTERS – a) Call to Order; b) Roll Call 

 
2. PRESENTATION BY JPB CONSULTING REGARDING THE FUTURE OF ALTERNATIVE FUELS IN 

NORTHERN CALIFORNIA  
 
3. PRESENTATION BY RJ RICCIARDI REGARDING AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR FISCAL YEAR 
 ENDING JUNE 30, 2015 
 
4. APPROVE SERVICE AGREEMENT RENEWAL WITH ACS ENTERPRISE SOLUTIONS LLC FOR 

SOFTWARE, HARDWARE, AND SERVICES 
 
5. MARIJUANA AD HOC COMMITTEE REPORT AND RECOMMENDATION TO THE WILLITS CITY COUNCIL 

AND DIRECTION TO STAFF TO DRAFT ORDINANCE 
  
6. CLOSED SESSION 

a. Conference with Legal Counsel Pursuant to Government Code §54956.9 – Existing Litigation:  
People of the State of California and the City of Willits v. Remco Hydraulics, Inc., et al. (United 
States District Court – Northern District of California, Case No. C-96-6283 SI 12/22/2000) 

 
7. ADJOURNMENT 

 
I hereby certify under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing 
agenda was posted on the bulletin board at the main entrance of the City of Willits City Hall, located at 
111 East Commercial Street, Willits, California, not less than 24 hours prior to the meeting set forth on 
this agenda. 
 

Dated this 18th day of March, 2016. 
Cathy Moorhead, City Clerk 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT (ADA) COMPLIANCE 
The meeting room is wheelchair accessible and disabled parking is available. If you are a person with a disability and 
need disability-related modifications or accommodations to participate in this meeting, please contact Cathy 
Moorhead at (707) 459-7121 or Fax (707) 459-1562. Requests for such modifications or accommodations must be 
made at least two full business days prior to the meeting. 
 

ADDITIONAL MEETING INFORMATION FOR INTERESTED PARTIES 
Materials related to an item on this Agenda submitted to the Willits City Council, Planning Commission, or Community 
Development Agency after distribution of the agenda packet are available for public inspection at City Clerk’s office at 
111 E. Commercial Street, Willits, during normal business hours. 







Item No. 3 
Meeting Date: March 21, 2016 

 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY REPORT 
 

To:   Honorable Mayor and Council Members 

From:  Susie Holmes, Finance Director 

Agenda Title:  PRESENTATION BY RJ RICCARDI REGARDING AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR FISCAL YEAR ENDING JUNE 30, 2015 

Type:  Presentation    Consent    Regular Agenda    Public Hearing    Urgent   Time: N/A 

Summary of Request:  The firm of R.J. Ricciardi, Inc. issued an unqualified opinion on the City of Willits 
financial statements for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2015.  
The report includes the auditors’ opinion letter, the Management discussion and analysis, the financial 
statements, notes to the financial statements, budget to actual comparisons for the general and sales tax funds, 
and the auditors’ report on internal control. The ending fund balance in the General Fund increased by $322,455 
from $1,999,156 to $2,321,611. 

The Sales Tax Transportation Improvement Fund ended the year with $2,174,232 in reserves an increase of 
$87,146.  

The Sewer enterprise fund balance decreased $707,892 while the balance in the Water enterprise increased 
$831,745 as indicated on pages 18 and 19 of Financial Statements. 

Please read the Management Discussion and Analysis (pages 3-12) for an overview of the financial statements. 
The Notes to the Financial Statements (pages 25-46) are an integral part of understanding the financial 
statements. 

GASB68 requires the unfunded liability for pension accounts be included on financial statements.  Michael 
O’Connor, CPA with the form of R.J. Ricciardi, Inc. will be available to answer any questions related to the 
financial statements. 
 

Recommended Action:  Receive and file the report. 

 

Alternative(s):  None recommended. 
 

Fiscal Impact:  Information purposes only. 

Personnel Impact:  None. 

Reviewed by:     City Manager    City Attorney    Finance Director    Human Resources    Risk 
 

Council Action:    Approved    Denied    Other: ________________________________________ 

Records:  Agreement    Resolution #_________    Ordinance #_________    Other _________ 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Honorable Mayor and
Members of the City Council
City of Willits
Willits, California
   
Report on the Financial Statements 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities,
each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of City of Willits, as of and for the year ended June 
30, 2015, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise City of Willits’ basic financial 
statements as listed in the table of contents.  

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation, 
and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards for financial 
audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we
consider internal control relevant to City of Willits’ preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of City of Willits’ internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit 
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinions.

Opinions
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective 
financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund and the aggregate 
remaining fund information and, where applicable, cash flows of City of Willits, as of June 30, 2015, and the 
respective changes in financial position for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America.
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Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management's discussion 
and analysis (pages 3-11) and the required supplemental information (pages 50-52), as listed in the table of contents, be 
presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial 
statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of 
financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical 
context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with 
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management 
about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management's 
responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the 
basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the 
limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated , on our consideration of City 
of Willits’ internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, 
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of 
our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to 
provide an opinion on the internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of 
an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards and should be considered in assessing the results 
of our audit.

                  
R. J. Ricciardi, Inc.
Certified Public Accountants

San Rafael, California DR
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This discussion and analysis of City of Willits’ financial activities and performance provides an overview 
for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015. Please read this in conjunction with City of Willits’ financial 
statements, which follow this discussion and analysis.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Government-wide Financial Statements
The Government-wide Statement of Net Position appearing as the first statement of the Basic Financial
Statements and summarized in the Management’s Discussion and Analysis shows City of Willits’ (the City’s) total 
assets to be $55,358,069, total liabilities to be $32,182,231 and total net position to be $24,122,740.

The City’s net capital assets, net of related debt, totaled $19,388,720 at June 30, 2015. This amount represents 
capital assets net of the related debt to acquire the capital assets. As a “small” City under the definition of 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 34 (GASB No. 34), the City is not required to report, 
and has not reported, infrastructure (i.e. streets, streetlights, sidewalks, etc.) assets acquired prior to June 30, 2003 
in accounting for capital assets. 

The City’s long-term debt (including current portion) totaled $31,180,638 as of June 30, 2015. This amount 
includes the 2011 Waste Water USDA Loan and other items reported in previous years in the General Long-
Term Debt column, capital leases, net pension liability and debt related to business-type activities (see Note 5 of 
the financial statements).

Governmental Funds Financial Statements
At June 30, 2015, Governmental Fund balances totaled $5,110,082, an increase of $738,397 from June 30, 2014. 
This increase is primarily due to the timing of reimbursements in the Regional Transportation Improvement 
Funds. The detailed components of revenues and expenditures can be found in the accompanying Statement of 
Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances.

The core operations of the City are accounted for in the General Fund, and the General Fund balance is a key 
measure of the financial health of the City. As of June 30, 2015, the General Fund balance was $2,321,611, an
increase of $322,455 from the July 1, 2014 balance of $1,999,156. 

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The City’s Basic Financial Statements consist of three components:  1) government-wide financial statements, 2) 
fund financial statements, and 3) notes to the financial statements. This report also contains other supplementary 
information in addition to the basic financial statements.

Government-wide Financial Statements

The government-wide financial statements consist of a Statement of Net Position and a Statement of Activities. 
These statements are designed to provide readers with a broad overview of the City’s finances, in a manner similar 
to a private-sector business. They provide information about the activities of the City as a whole and present a 
longer-term view of the City’s finances.

The Statement of Net Position presents information on all of the City’s assets and liabilities, with the difference 
between the two reported as net position. Over time, increases or decreases in net position may serve as a useful 
indicator of whether the financial position of the City is improving or diminishing.
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The Statement of Activities presents information that shows how the City’s net position changed during the fiscal 
year. All changes in net position are reported when the underlying event causing the change occurs, regardless of 
the timing of related cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses may be reported in this statement for some items 
that will result in cash flows in future fiscal periods, such as property taxes assessed but not collected by June 30 
and interest expenses accrued but not paid.

Fund Financial Statements

A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have been segregated 
for specific activities or objectives. The City, like other government entities, uses fund accounting to ensure and 
demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal requirements. Funds of government entities can be divided 
into three categories: governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds.

Governmental Funds
Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as governmental activities in 
the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the government-wide financial statements, 
governmental funds financial statements focus on short-term inflows and outflows of spendable resources and 
balances of these resources available for spending. This information may be useful in evaluating a government’s 
short-term financing requirements. Governmental Fund Financial Statements are prepared on the modified 
accrual basis, which means they measure only current financial resources and uses. Capital assets and other long-
lived assets, along with long-term liabilities, are not presented in the Governmental Funds Financial Statements.

The City maintains numerous individual governmental funds, which for financial reporting, are grouped according 
to their type (general fund, special revenue, capital projects, and debt service). Funds with expenditures exceeding
10% of the total expenditures for all governmental funds, or meet other specific criteria for determining their 
importance to the financial statement user, are designated Major Funds and are reported separately in the 
governmental funds statements. All other funds are grouped together as Non-Major Funds for reporting 
purposes. The City’s Major governmental funds are:

 General Fund

 Sales Tax Transportation Improvement 

 Gas Tax Fund

All of the City’s Enterprise Funds are reported as Major Funds.

Proprietary Funds
Proprietary funds generally account for services for which customer fees are intended to finance the costs of 
operations and can include enterprise funds and internal service funds. Enterprise funds are used to report the 
same functions presented as business-type activities in the government-wide financial statements. Proprietary 
Funds Financial Statements are prepared on the full accrual basis, as in the past, and include all of their assets and 
liabilities, current and long-term.

The City does not have any internal service funds.

Fiduciary Funds
Fiduciary Statements are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside of the reporting 
government for which the City acts solely as agent. These statements are separate from, and their balances are 
excluded from, the City’s financial statements.
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FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES OF THE CITY AS A WHOLE

Tables 1 and 2 focus on the City’s Governmental Statement of Net Position and Statement of Activities, while 
Tables 3 and 4 focus on the City’s Business-type Statement of Net Position and Statement of Activities.

Governmental Activities

The City’s governmental net position amounted to $915,816 as of June 30, 2015, a decrease of $3,828,228 from
2014. This increase is the Change in Net Position and the prior period adjustment reflected in the Governmental 
Activities column of the Statement of Activities shown in Table 2. The City’s net position as of June 30, 2015
comprised the following: 

 Cash and investments were comprised of $4,690,181 in the City treasury. Substantially all of these 
amounts were held in short-term investments in government securities, as detailed in Note 2 to the 
basic financial statements.

 Receivables were comprised of the following: $720,538 current receivables, and $3,098 of 
inventories.

 Capital assets were $441,960 net of depreciation charges, which includes all the City’s capital assets 
used in governmental activities.

 Current liabilities, including accounts payable, claims, accrued liabilities, and other amounts currently 
due, totaled $518,462.

 Long-term debt was $15,000.

Table 1
Governmental Net Position at June 30

Governmental
Activities

2015

Governmental
Activities

2014             
Current and other assets $            5,413,817 $             4,706,704 
Capital assets                  441,960                  505,323 

Total assets               5,855,777               5,212,027 
Deferred outflows               516,209

Long-term liabilities               15,000              21,114 
Other liabilities                  503,462                 446,869 

Total liabilities                  518,462                 467,983 
Deferred inflows                (275,427)

Net position:
  Invested in capital assets, net of related debt             426,960             484,209 
  Restricted             171,341             300,003 
  Unrestricted                317,515              3,959,832 

Total net position $              915,816 $            4,744,044 DR
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 Net position invested in capital assets, net of related debt, was $426,960, representing the City’s 
investment in capital assets used in Governmental Activities, net of amounts borrowed to finance 
that investment.

 Restricted net position totaling $171,341, which may be used only to construct specified capital 
projects or for debt service. The restrictions on these funds were placed there by outsiders and 
cannot be changed by the City.

 Unrestricted net position, the part of net position that can be used to finance day-to-day operations 
without constraints established by debt covenants or other legal requirements or restrictions. The 
City had $317,515 of unrestricted net position as of June 30, 2015.

Sources of Revenue

Grants/Contributions

3%

Use of Money

1%

Charges for Services

9%

Miscellaneous

13%

Taxes

74%

Miscellaneous

Charges for Services

Use of Money

Grants/Contributions

Taxes

Functional Expenses Parks & Recreation, 5%

Public Safety, 30%

General Govt, 31%

Interest & Fiscal Charges, 

1%

Planning, 3%

Public Works, 25%

Community Development, 
5%

General Govt

Public Safety

Public Works

Planning

Community Development

Parks & Recreation

Interest & Fiscal Charges

As the Sources of Revenue Chart above shows, $3,840,314 or 71%, of the City’s fiscal year 2015 governmental 
activities revenue came from taxes, while $142,814 or 3%, came from grants and contributions, $499,574, or 9%, 
came from charges for services, and the remainder came from a variety of sources, as shown above.
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The Functional Expenses Chart above includes only current year expenses; it does not include capital outlays, 
which are now added to the City’s capital assets. As the Chart shows, general government expenses are 
$1,111,783, or 31%, of total government expenses, community development is $182,375, or 5%, public safety is 
$1,085,933 or 30%, public works is $936,560, or 25%, parks and recreation is $178,655, or 5%, and other 
governmental programs and functions are the remaining 4%.

The Statement of Activities presents program revenues and expenses and general revenues in detail. All of these 
are elements in the Changes in Governmental Net Position summarized below. 

Governmental 
Activities

2015

Governmental 
Activities

2014

Expenses

General government $                1,111,783 $               1,184,479 

Public safety          1,085,933          2,352,321 

Planning             101,430             129,193 

Community development             182,375              79,589 

Public works             936,560          1,400,878 

Parks and recreation             178,655             265,999 

Interest on long-term debt                        4,612                      11,376 

      Total expenses                    3,601,348                 5,423,835 

Revenues

Program revenues:

  Charges for services             499,574             287,667 

  Operating grants and contributions             142,814             143,793 

  Capital grants and contributions                               -                      291,926 

      Total program revenues                   642,388                    723,386 

General revenues:

  Taxes          3,840,314          4,094,337 

  Use of money and property               28,549              31,898 

  Other revenues and transfers                     868,784                   746,495 

      Total general revenues                4,737,647                4,872,730 

Total revenues                 5,380,035               5,596,116 

Change in net position $                1,778,687 $                172,281 

As the Sources of Revenue Chart and Table 2 above show, $642,388, or 12%, of the City’s fiscal year 2015
governmental revenue, came from program revenues and $4,737,647, or 88%, came from general revenues such 
as taxes and interest and transfers.

Program revenues were composed of charges for services of $499,574, which includes permit revenues, fees and 
charges used to fund expenses incurred in providing services; and $142,814 of operating grants and contributions, 
which includes gas tax revenues and housing and police grants.

Table 2
Changes in Governmental Net Position
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General revenues are not allocable to programs. General revenues are used to pay for the net cost of 
governmental programs.

Business-type Activities
The Statement of Net Position and Statement of Activities present a summary of the City’s business-type 
activities that are composed of the City’s enterprise funds.

Table 3

Business-Type
2015

Business-Type
2014

Current and other assets $              5,732,947 $              5,767,040 

Capital assets             43,690,425             44,261,203 

      Total assets              49,423,372             50,028,243 
Deferred outflows                 98,354

Long-term debt outstanding     25,107,555     26,463,855 

Other liabilities                   498,131                 642,895 
      Total liabilities              25,605,686            27,106,750 

Deferred inflows                   (56,912)

Net position:

  Invested in capital assets, net of debt     18,961,760     21,647,476 

  Restricted       1,653,716       2,158,681 
  Unrestricted                2,395,793                (884,664)

      Total net position $            23,011,269 $          22,921,493 

Business-Type Net Position at June 30
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Analyses of Major Funds

Governmental Funds

General Fund
General Fund revenues increased $315,022 this fiscal year due primarily to increases in licenses and permits, 
charges for services and other revenue that offset decreases in taxes and intergovernmental revenue. Actual 
revenues were over budgeted amounts by $249,283.

General Fund expenditures were $4,102,244, a decrease of $131,186 from the prior year. Expenditures were 
$191,465 less than budgeted.

As of June 30, 2015, the General Fund’s fund balance totaled $2,321,513. 

Sales Tax Transportation Improvement Fund
This fund is used to account for capital expenditures, maintenance, rehabilitation, reconstruction and construction
of City streets and roads. The fund’s fiscal year end fund balance was $2,174,232. 

Gas Tax Fund
This fund is used to account for capital expenditures, maintenance, rehabilitation, reconstruction and construction 
of City streets and roads funded by State gas taxes. 

Table 4
Changes in Business-Type Net Position

Business-Type 
Activities

2015

Business-Type 
Activities

2014

Expenses
Water $               2,530,249 $              3,219,404 
Sewer          3,373,594          3,443,048 
Airport                    113,629                     85,522 

      Total expenses                 6,017,472                6,747,974 

Revenues

Program revenues:

  Charges for services          5,708,372          5,220,625 

   Capital grants and contributions               10,000                     -   

  Operating grants and contributions                 1,464,340                 1,803,554 

      Total program revenues                 7,182,712                 7,024,179 

General revenues:

    Use of money and property               41,608              57,634 
    Other revenues and transfers                     (11,793)                    (10,876)

      Total general revenues                      29,815                     46,758 

      Total revenues                7,212,527                7,070,937 

Change in net position $              1,195,055 $                322,963DR
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Other Governmental Funds
These funds are not presented separately in the basic financial statements. 

Proprietary Funds

Sewer Fund
The change in net position of the Sewer Fund resulted in a decrease of $707,892 in fiscal year 2015. Operating 
revenues increased $349,691 to $3,115,220. Operating expenses increased $20,400.

As of June 30, 2015, the fund’s net position was $13,710,903.

Water Fund
Operating revenues increased $133,699 to a total of $2,533,239 in fiscal year 2015. Operating expenses decreased
$675,786 to a total of $2,490,969. 

As a result the fund’s net position increased $831,745, to a new total of $9,505,964. 

CAPITAL ASSETS

GASB No. 34 requires the City to record all its capital assets including infrastructure, which was not recorded in 
prior years. Infrastructure includes roads, bridges, signals and similar assets used by the entire population.

In fiscal year 2015, the City reported the cost of all its infrastructure assets and computed the amount of 
accumulated depreciation for these assets based on their original acquisition dates. At the end of fiscal year 2015
the cost of infrastructure and other capital assets recorded on the City’s financial statements was as shown in 
Table 5 below:  

Balance at
June 30, 2015

Balance at
June 30, 2014

Governmental Activities

  Land (not depreciated) $                150,963 $              150,963
  Buildings and improvements 1,650,020 1,650,020

  Equipment            1,719,872            1,705,248

  Less: accumulated depreciation               3,078,895               3,000,908

      Governmental activity capital assets, net $                441,960 $               505,323

Business-type Activities

  Land (not depreciated) $             1,804,213 $            1,804,213
  Buildings 7,695,901 7,695,901
  Plant and equipment 8,988,680 8,988,680
  Construction in progress (not depreciated) 5,738,815 31,675,576
  Infrastructure          35,356,307          8,655,568
  Less: accumulated depreciation              15,893,488             14,558,735

      Business-type activity capital assets, net $           43,690,428 $         41,261,203

Detail on capital assets, current year additions and construction in progress can be found in Note 4.

Table 5
Capital Assets at Year-endDR
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The City depreciates all its capital assets over their estimated useful lives, as required by GASB No. 34. The 
purpose of depreciation is to spread the cost of a capital asset over the years of its useful life so that an allocable 
portion of the cost of the asset is borne by all users. Additional information on depreciable lives may be found in 
Note 4 to the basic financial statements.

DEBT ADMINISTRATION

The City’s debt issues are discussed in detail in Note 5 to the financial statements. As of June 30, 2015, the City’s 
debt was comprised of the following:

Table 6
Outstanding Debt

2015 2014
Government Activity Debt:
Capital leases $                 15,000 $                 21,114
          Total Government Activity Debt $                 15,000 $                 21,114

Business-Type Activity Debt:
1994 Public Facilities Bonds, 2.5-5.1%, due 2015 $                          - $               340,000
1993 Sewer Bonds, 5.125%, due 2034 3,335,000 3,440,000
State Water Loan, 4%, due 2020           835,761           1,081,764
State Water Revolving Fund Loan          3,170,935 3,366,510
2007 Waste Water Sewer Loan A          8,288,500 8,405,500
2007 Waste Water Sewer Loan B          1,186,000 1,202,500
2011 Waste Water Bonds          7,787,000 7,920,000
Capital leases            125,469 223,950
Landfill post-closure                 378,890                 483,618
          Total Business-Type Activity Debt $          25,107,555 $          26,463,842

ECONOMIC CONDITION, OUTLOOK AND ACTIVITY

Overall, the City appears to be in a favorable position to continue attracting jobs, retail establishments, and new 
residents for the next several years. This will help increase and strengthen the City’s tax base and increase the 
diversity of where those revenues are generated.

Next Year’s Budget

 The City is faced with increases in the Public Employees Retirement Systems (PERS) and health 
insurance benefit costs.

 There are limited investment opportunities for idle cash reserves.

These factors were taken into consideration during the preparation of the City’s budget for the fiscal year 2015-
16.

CONTACTING THE CITY’S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

This Annual Financial Report is intended to provide citizens, taxpayers, and creditors with a general overview of 
the City’s finances. Questions about this report should be directed to City of Willits, at 111 E. Commercial Street, 
Willits, CA 95490-3188.
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Governmental Business-Type

Activities Activities Total

ASSETS

Cash and investments 4,690,181$       3,006,472$     7,696,653$       

Cash and investments with fiscal agent -                  1,343,158       1,343,158         

Restricted cash and investments -                  310,558          310,558           

Accounts receivable 720,538           994,821          1,715,359         

Inventories 3,098               28,442           31,540             

Prepaid items 78,920             49,496           128,416           

Capital assets:

Non-depreciable assets 150,963           7,543,028       7,693,991         

Depreciable assets (net of depreciation) 290,997           36,147,397     36,438,394       

Total assets 5,934,697         49,423,372     55,358,069       

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS

Deferred outflows related to pensions 516,209           98,354           614,563           

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable 86,416             102,583          188,999           

Accrued expenses 417,046           395,548          812,594           

Long-term debt:

Due within one year 15,000             757,497          772,497           

Due in more than one year -                  24,350,058     24,350,058       

Net pension liability 5,096,400         961,683          6,058,083         

Total liabilities 5,614,862         26,567,369     32,182,231       

DEFERRED INFLOWS

Deferred inflows related to pensions (275,427)          (56,912)          (332,339)          

NET POSITION

Investment in capital assets, net of related debt 426,960           18,961,760     19,388,720       

Restricted 171,341           1,653,716       1,825,057         

Unrestricted 317,515           2,395,793       2,713,308         

Total net position 915,816$          23,011,269$   23,927,085$     

City of Willits

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

June 30, 2015

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Operating Capital

Charges for Grants and Grants and Governmental Business-type

Functions/Programs Expenses Services Contributions Contributions Activities Activities Total

Governmental activities:

General government 1,111,783$    176,323$       -$              -$              (935,460)$     (935,460)$     

Public safety 1,085,933      17,935          142,814        -                (925,184)       (925,184)       

Public works 936,560        258,669        -                -                (677,891)       (677,891)       

Planning 101,430        -                -                -                (101,430)       (101,430)       

Community services 182,375        -                -                -                (182,375)       (182,375)       

Parks and recreation 178,655        46,647          -                -                (132,008)       (132,008)       

Interest and fiscal charges 4,612            -                -                -                (4,612)           (4,612)           

Total governmental activities 3,601,348      499,574        142,814        -                (2,958,960)    (2,958,960)    

Business-type activities:

Water 2,530,249      2,533,239      -                1,464,340      -                1,467,330$    1,467,330      

Sewer 3,373,594      3,112,013      -                -                -                (261,581)       (261,581)       

Airport 113,629        63,120          10,000          -                -                (40,509)         (40,509)         

Total business-type activities 6,017,472      5,708,372      10,000          1,464,340      -                1,165,240      1,165,240      

Total 9,618,820$    6,207,946$    152,814$       1,464,340$    (2,958,960)    1,165,240      (1,793,720)    

General revenues:

Sales taxes 2,833,771 -                2,833,771      

Property taxes 373,917 -                373,917        

Gas taxes -                -                -                

Motor vehicle in lieu 410,815 -                410,815        

Franchise taxes 221,811 -                221,811        

Other revenues 853,784        3,207            856,991        

Use of money and property 28,549          41,608          70,157          

Transfers 15,000          (15,000)         -                

Total general revenues 4,737,647      29,815          4,767,462      

Change in net position 1,778,687      1,195,055      2,973,742      

Net position beginning of period 4,744,042      22,921,491    27,665,533    

Prior period adjustments (5,606,913)    (1,105,277)    (6,712,190)    

Net position beginning of period restated (862,871)       21,816,214    20,953,343    

Net position end of period 915,816$       23,011,269$  23,927,085$  

Changes in Net Assets

Net (Expense) Revenue and

City of Willits
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
For the year ended June 30, 2015

Program Revenues

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

- 13 -
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Other Total

Sales Gas Governmental Governmental

General Tax Tax Funds Funds

ASSETS

Cash and investments 2,287,224$       2,007,925$       -$                 395,032$          4,690,181$       

Accounts receivable 368,864            166,403 11,968 173,303            720,538            

Due from other funds -                   5,832               -                   -                   5,832               

Prepaid items -                   -                   -                   78,920             78,920             

Inventories 3,098               -                   -                   -                   3,098               

Total assets 2,659,186$       2,180,160$       11,968$            647,255$          5,498,569$       

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable 70,625$            -$                 15,791$            -$                 86,416$            

Due to other funds -                   -                   5,832               -                   5,832               

Leases payable 15,000             -                   -                   -                   15,000             

Accrued liabilities 251,950            5,928               23,230             131                  281,239            

Total liabilities 337,575            5,928               44,853             131                  388,487            

FUND BALANCES

Nonspendable 3,098               -                   -                   78,920             82,018             

Restricted -                   -                   -                   171,341            171,341            

Assigned for special projects -                   2,174,232         -                   62,130             2,236,362         

Unassigned 2,318,513         -                   (32,885)            334,733            2,620,361         

Total fund balances 2,321,611         2,174,232         (32,885)            647,124            5,110,082         

Total liabilities and fund balances 2,659,186$       2,180,160$       11,968$            647,255$          5,498,569$       

City of Willits

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

BALANCE SHEET

June 30, 2015

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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TOTAL FUND BALANCES - TOTAL GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 5,110,082$            

Amounts reported for Governmental Activities in the Statement of 

Net Position are different from those reported in the Governmental

Funds above because of the following:

CAPITAL ASSETS

Capital Assets used in Governmental Activities are not current assets

or financial resources and therefore are not reported in the 

Governmental Funds. 441,960

LONG-TERM ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The assets and liabilities below are not due and payable in the current

period and therefore are not reported in the Funds:

Deferred outflows 516,209

Deferred inflows 275,427

Net pension liability (5,096,400)             

Non-current portion of compensated absences (135,807)                

NET POSITION OF GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES 1,111,471$            

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

For the year ended June 30, 2015

City of Willits

Reconciliation of the

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS - BALANCE SHEET

with the Governmental Activities

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Other Total

Sales Gax Governmental Governmental 

General Tax Tax Funds Funds

Revenues:

Taxes 2,896,602$      919,520$         153,063$         -$                3,969,185$      

Licenses and permits 480,480 -                  -                  -                  480,480           

Fines and forfeitures 9,734 -                  -                  8,201              17,935             

Charges for services 46,647 -                  21,296             -                  67,943             

Use of money and property 16,833 11,693 -                  23                   28,549             

Intergovernmental revenue 142,814 -                  -                  -                  142,814           

Other revenues 853,190           -                  594                 -                  853,784           

Total revenues 4,446,300        931,213           174,953           8,224              5,560,690        

Expenditures:

Current:

General government 1,003,063        -                  108,720           -                  1,111,783        

Public safety 2,317,117 -                  -                  23,017             2,340,134        

Public works 437,541 186,221 280,262 8,166              912,190           

Planning 101,430 -                  -                  -                  101,430           

Community services 53,712             -                  -                  128,663           182,375           

Parks and recreation 178,655 -                  -                  -                  178,655           

Debt service:

Principal 6,114              -                  -                  -                  6,114              

Interest 4,612              -                  -                  -                  4,612              

Total expenditures 4,102,244        186,221           388,982           159,846           4,837,293        

Excess (deficit) of revenues

over (under) expenditures 344,056           744,992           (214,029)          (151,622)          723,397           

Other financing sources (uses):

Transfers in 15,000 -                  201,464           492,981           709,445           

Transfers out (36,601)           (657,844)          -                  -                  (694,445)          

Total other financing sources (uses) (21,601)           (657,844)          201,464           492,981           15,000             

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES 322,455           87,148             (12,565)           341,359           738,397           

Fund balances, beginning of period 1,999,156        2,087,084        (20,320)           305,765           4,371,685        

Fund balances, end of period 2,321,611$      2,174,232$      (32,885)$          647,124$         5,110,082$      

For the year ended June 30, 2015

City of Willits

STATEMENT OF REVENUES,

EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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The schedule below reconciles the Net Changes in Fund Balances reported on the
Governmental Funds Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund
Balance, which measures only changes in current assets and current liabilities on the
modified accrual basis, with the Change in Net Position of Governmental Activities
reported in the Statement of Activities, which is prepared on the full accrual basis.

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES - TOTAL GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 738,397$        

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Activities

are different because of the following:

CAPITAL ASSETS TRANSACTIONS

Governmental Funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the 

Statement of Activities the cost of those assets is capitalized and allocated

over their estimated useful lives and reported as depreciation expense.

The capital outlay expenditures are therefore added back to fund balance 14,624           

Depreciation expense is deducted from the fund balance (77,987)          

LONG-TERM DEBT PROCEEDS AND PAYMENT

Bond proceeds provide current financial resources to governmental funds, but issuing
debt increases long-term liabilities in the Statement of Net Position. Repayment of
bond principal is an expenditure in the governmental funds, but in the Statement of Net
Position the repayment reduces long-term liabilities.

Repayment of debt principal is added back to fund balance 6,114             

ACCRUAL OF NON-CURRENT ITEMS

The amounts below included in the Statement of Activities do not provide or

(require) the use of current financial resources and therefore are not reported 

 as revenue or expenditures in the governmental funds (net change):

Pension expense 1,302,148       

Long-term compensated absences (8,954)            

CHANGE IN NET POSITION OF GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES 1,974,342$     

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

For the year ended June 30, 2015

City of Willits

Reconciliation of the

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES - TOTAL GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

with the

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Solid
Sewer Water Waste Airport Totals

ASSETS

Current assets:

Cash and investments 1,096,950$    1,892,636$    34,950$         (18,064)$        3,006,472$    

Cash and investments with fiscal agent 1,343,158 -                    -                    -                    1,343,158      

Restricted cash and investments 251,833         58,725           -                    -                    310,558         

Accounts receivable 190,967 803,854 -                    -                    994,821         

Inventory -                    -                    -                    28,442           28,442           

Prepaid items -                    46,327           -                    3,169             49,496           

Total current assets 2,882,908      2,801,542      34,950           13,547           5,732,947      

Noncurrent assets:

Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation 32,077,510    11,458,981    -                    153,934         43,690,425    

Total noncurrent assets 32,077,510    11,458,981    -                    153,934         43,690,425    

Total assets 34,960,418    14,260,523    34,950           167,481         49,423,372    

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS

Deferred outflows related to pensions 42,152           56,202           -                    -                    98,354           

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable 12,526           64,748 24,387           922               102,583         

Accrued expenses 169,428         222,290 -                    3,830 395,548         

Current maturities of long-term debt:

California Dept of Water Resources loan -                    172,662         -                    -                    172,662         

USDA WWTP Loan 136,500         -                    -                    -                    136,500         

2011 USDA WWTP 136,000 -                    -                    -                    136,000         

State Revolving Fund -                    99,287 -                    -                    99,287           

1993 Sewer bond 110,000         -                    -                    -                    110,000         

Capital lease 103,048         -                    -                    -                    103,048         

Total current liabilities 667,502         558,987         24,387           4,752             1,255,628      

Long-term liabilities:

California Dept of Water Resources loan -                    663,114         -                    -                    663,114         

State Revolving Fund -                    3,071,648 -                    -                    3,071,648      

2007 USDA WWTP Loan 9,338,000      -                    -                    -                    9,338,000      

2011 USDA WWTP 7,651,000 -                    -                    -                    7,651,000      

Landfill post closure -                    -                    378,890         -                    378,890         

Capital Lease 22,406 -                    -                    -                    22,406           

1993 Sewer bond 3,225,000      -                    -                    -                    3,225,000      

Net pension liability 412,150         549,533         -                    -                    961,683         

Total noncurrent liabilities 20,648,556    4,284,295      378,890         -                    25,311,741    

Total liabilities 21,316,058    4,843,282      403,277         4,752             26,567,369    

DEFERRED INFLOWS

Deferred inflows related to pensions (24,391)          (32,521)          -                    -                    (56,912)          

NET POSITION

Invested in capital assets, net of related debt 11,355,556    7,452,270      -                    153,934         18,961,760    

Restricted 1,594,991      58,725           -                    -                    1,653,716      

Unrestricted 760,356         1,994,969      (368,327)        8,795             2,395,793      

Total net position 13,710,903$  9,505,964$    (368,327)$      162,729$       23,011,269$  

Business-type Activities

Enterprise Funds

City of Willits

June 30, 2015

PROPRIETARY FUNDS
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION

Solid

Sewer Water Waste Airport Total

Operating revenues:

Charges for services 3,112,013$    2,533,239$    -$             63,120$        5,708,372$    

Other 3,207            -               -               -                  3,207            

Total operating revenues 3,115,220     2,533,239     -               63,120          5,711,579     

Operating expenses:

Administration 288,607 532,587 -               -               821,194        

Operations 631,867 855,692 -               98,954 1,586,513     

Maintenance 292,431 734,580 -               -               1,027,011     

Engineering 32,669 -               -               -               32,669          
Depreciation 994,378        325,702        -               14,675          1,334,755     

Other 351,293        42,408          -               -               393,701        

Total operating expenses 2,591,245     2,490,969     -               113,629        5,195,843     

Operating income (loss) 523,975        42,270          -               (50,509)         515,736        

Non-operating revenues (expenses):

Intergovernmental -               1,464,340 -               10,000 1,474,340     

Interest income 24,172 11,002 6,424 10 41,608          

Interest expense (782,349)       (39,280)         -               -               (821,629)       

Total non-operating

revenues (expenses) (758,177)       1,436,062     6,424            10,010          694,319        

Income (Loss) before contributions and transfers (234,202)       1,478,332     6,424            (40,499)         1,210,055     

Transfers out -               (15,000)         -               -               (15,000)         

Change in net position (234,202)       1,463,332     6,424            (40,499)         1,195,055     

Net position, beginning of period 14,418,795    8,674,219     (374,751)       203,228        22,921,491    

Prior period adjustments (473,690)       (631,587)       -               -               (1,105,277)    

Net position, beginning of period, restated 13,945,105    8,042,632     (374,751)       203,228        21,816,214    

Net position, end of period 13,710,903$  9,505,964$    (368,327)$     162,729$      23,011,269$  

City of Willits

STATEMENT OF REVENUES,

For the year ended June 30, 2015

PROPRIETARY FUNDS

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Solid

Sewer Water Waste Airport Total

Cash flows from operating activities:

Receipts from customers 3,059,796$      2,385,831$      -$               64,295$          5,509,922$      

Payments to suppliers (1,326,841)      (1,828,157)      24,299            (100,286)         (3,230,985)      

Payments to employees (416,690)         (703,364)         -                 -                 (1,120,054)      

Net cash provided (used) by operating activities 1,316,265       (145,690)         24,299            (35,991)           1,158,883       

Cash flows from noncapital financing activities:

Transfers -                 (15,000)           -                 -                 (15,000)           

Intergovernmental revenue -                 1,464,340       -                 10,000            1,474,340       

Net cash provided (used) by noncapital financing activities -                 1,449,340       -                 10,000            1,459,340       

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:

Principal payments on capital debt (470,011)         (486,701)         (104,727)         -                 (1,061,439)      

Debt proceeds -                     (294,862)         -                 -                 (294,862)         

Interest paid on capital debt (782,349)         (39,280)           -                 -                 (821,629)         

Inventory -                 -                 -                 (6,336)             (6,336)             

Acquisition of capital assets 1                    (763,978)         -                 -                 (763,977)         

Net cash provided (used) by capital and related

 financing activities (1,252,359)      (1,584,821)      (104,727)         (6,336)             (2,948,243)      

Cash flows from investing activities:

Interest earned 24,172            11,002            6,424              14                  41,612            

Net cash provided by investing activities 24,172            11,002            6,424              14                  41,612            

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 88,078            (270,169)         (74,004)           (32,313)           (288,408)         

Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of period 2,603,863       2,221,530       108,954          14,249            4,948,596       

Cash and cash equivalents - end of period 2,691,941$      1,951,361$      34,950$          (18,064)$         4,660,188$      

Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net cash 

provided (used in) operating activities:

Operating income (loss) 523,975$        42,270$          -$               (50,509)$         515,736$        

Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to

net cash provided by operating activities:

    Depreciation 994,378          325,702          -                 14,675            1,334,755       

Pension expense (128,083)         (170,777)         -                 -                 (298,860)         

Changes in certain assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable (55,424)           (147,408)         -                 1,175              (201,657)         

Accrued expenses 3,186              18,157            (88)                 -                 21,255            

Prepaid items -                 (46,327)           -                 -                 (46,327)           

Due from/Due to other funds -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 

Accounts payable (21,767)           (167,307)         24,387            (1,332)             (166,019)         

Total adjustments 792,290          (187,960)         24,299            14,518            643,147          

Net cash provided (used) by operating activities 1,316,265$      (145,690)$       24,299$          (35,991)$         1,158,883$      

Cash and investments 3,006,472$      

Cash and investments with fiscal agent 1,343,158       

Restricted cash and investments 310,558          

Total cash and cash equivalents 4,660,188$      

PROPRIETARY FUNDS
City of Willits

For the year ended June 30, 2015
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Private

Expendable Purpose Agency

Trust Trust Fund Funds

ASSETS

Cash and investments 526,358$        691,540$        85,339$         

Accounts receivable 163 247                -                

Loans receivable 284,080         -                -                

Total assets 810,601         691,787         85,339$         

LIABILITIES

Liabilities:

Accounts payable 1,672             869                85,339$         

Due to City of Willits -                171,060         -                

Accrued interest payable -                53,633           -                

Long-term liabilities:

Due within one year -                200,000         -                

Due in more than one year -                3,010,000       -                

Total liabilities 1,672             3,435,562       85,339$         

NET POSITION

Held in trust for successor agency and other purposes 808,929         (2,743,775)     

Total net position 808,929$        (2,743,775)$    

City of Willits

FIDUCIARY FUNDS

STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION

June 30, 2015
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Expendable

Trust

Additions:

Use of money and property 6,927$                 

Other revenue 174,168               

Total additions 181,095               

Deductions:

Other services 50,125

Narcotics forfeiture 84,235                 

Total deductions 134,360               

 Change in net position 46,735                 

Net position, beginning of period 762,194               

Net position, end of period 808,929$             

For the Year Ended June 30, 2015

FIDUCIARY FUNDS

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION

City of Willits
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Private

Purpose

Trust Fund

Additions:

Taxes 413,668$           

Use of money and property 805                   

Total additions 414,473             

Deductions:

Project costs 379,220

Debt service:

Interest 167,292             

Total deductions 546,512             

 Change in net position (132,039)            

Net position, beginning of period (2,611,736)         

Net position, end of period (2,743,775)$       

City of Willits

FIDUCIARY FUNDS

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION

For the Year Ended June 30, 2015
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City of Willits
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

June 30, 2015

- 24 -

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The basic financial statements of City of Willits (the City) have been prepared in conformity with U.S. 
generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) as applied to governmental agencies. The Governmental 
Accounting Standards Boards (GASB) is the accepted standard setting body for establishing 
governmental accounting and financial reporting principles. The more significant accounting principles 
are described below.

A. Description of Financial Reporting Entity

The City is a general law City incorporated in the State of California. The City is governed by an elected, 
five-member City Council. The following services are provided by the City to its citizens: public safety 
(police); streets; drinking water; wastewater collection, treatment and disposal; public improvements, 
parks and recreation; planning and zoning; and general administrative services.

As required by U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, these financial statements present the City as 
the primary government, and the component units for which the City is financially accountable. The 
component units discussed below are included in the City’s reporting entity because of the significance of 
their operational and/or financial relationships with the City.

B. Description of Joint Powers Agreements

The City participates in several joint power agreements (JPAs) as described in Note 12. The financial 
activities of the JPAs are not included in the accompanying basic financial statements because JPAs are 
administered by governing boards that are separate from and independent of the City.

C. Description of Funds

The accounts of the City are organized on the basis of funds, each of which is considered a separate 
entity. The operations of each fund are accounted for with a separate set of self-balancing accounts that 
comprise the fund’s assets, liabilities, fund equity, and revenues and expenditures. Government resources 
are allocated to and accounted for in individual funds based on the purposes for which they are to be 
spent and the means by which spending activities are controlled.

D. Government-wide Financial Statements

The City’s government-wide financial statements include a Statement of Net Position and a Statement of 
Activities. These statements present summaries of governmental activities and business-type activities for 
the City, accompanied by a total column. These financial statements include the financial activities of the 
overall City government, except for fiduciary activities. Eliminations have been made to minimize the 
double counting of internal activities. 

Governmental activities are financed generally through taxes, intergovernmental revenues, and other non-
exchange transactions. Business-type activities are financed generally through user fees.

The Statement of Activities presents a comparison between direct expenses and program revenues for 
each function of the City’s governmental activities. Direct expenses are those that are specifically 
associated with a program or function and therefore are clearly identifiable to a particular function. 
Program revenues include three categories: (1) charges for services, (2) operating grants and contributions 
and (3) capital grants and contributions. Revenues that are not classified as program revenues, including 
all taxes, are presented as general revenues.
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City of Willits
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

June 30, 2015

- 25 -

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

D. Government-wide Financial Statements (concluded)

Certain eliminations have been made as prescribed by GASB Statement No. 34, Basic Financial Statements-
and Management’s Discussion and Analysis-for State and Local Governments (GASB No. 34) in regards to inter-
fund activities, payables and receivables.

E. Governmental Fund Financial Statements

The fund financial statements provide information about the City’s funds, including fiduciary funds and 
blended component units. Separate statements for each fund category – governmental and proprietary – are 
presented. The emphasis of fund financial statements is on major individual governmental and enterprise 
funds, each of which is displayed in a separate column. All remaining governmental and enterprise funds 
are aggregated and reported as non-major funds. 

Proprietary fund operating revenues, such as charges for services, result from exchange transactions 
associated with the principal activity of the fund. Exchange transactions are those in which each party 
receives and gives up essentially equal values. Nonoperating revenues, such as subsidies and investment 
earnings, result from nonexchange transactions or ancillary activities.   

Governmental fund financial statements include a Balance Sheet and a Statement of Revenues, 
Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances for all major governmental funds and non-major funds 
aggregated. An accompanying schedule is presented to reconcile and explain the differences in net 
position as presented in these statements to the net position presented in the government-wide financial 
statements.

F. Major Funds

GASB No. 34 defines major funds and requires that the City’s major governmental funds be identified 
and presented separately in the fund financial statements. All other governmental funds, called non-major 
funds, are combined and reported in a single column, regardless of their fund-type.

Major funds are defined as governmental funds that have either assets, liabilities, revenues or 
expenditures equal to ten percent of their fund-type total or five percent of the grand total. The general 
fund is always a major fund. The City may select other governmental funds it believes should be 
presented as major funds, although no such funds were selected in fiscal year 2015.

The major governmental funds of the City are:

General Fund:
The General Fund is used to account for the resources to carry out basic governmental activities of 
the City such as general government, public safety, public works, and parks and recreation, which are 
not required to be accounted for in another fund.

Sales Tax Transportation Improvement Fund:
This fund is used to account for sales tax revenues set aside for transportation improvements.

Gas Tax Fund
This fund is used to account for capital expenditures, maintenance, rehabilitation, reconstruction        
and construction of City streets and roads funded by State gas taxes. 
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

F. Major Funds (concluded)

The City reported all its enterprise funds as major funds in the accompanying financial statements:

Water Fund: 
This fund accounts for all financial transactions relating to the City’s water service. Services are on a 
user charge basis to residents and business owners located in Willits.

Sewer Fund: 
This fund accounts for all financial transactions relating to the City’s wastewater collection and 
treatment. Services are on a user charge basis to residents and business owners located in Willits and 
Brooktrails Cityship.

Solid Waste Fund:
This fund accounts for all financial transactions relating to the City’s solid waste post-closure
maintenance. 

Airport Fund: 
This fund accounts for all financial transactions relating to the City’s airport. 

Fiduciary Funds:
The City uses an Expendable Trust Fund and Agency Funds to account for assets held by the City as a 
fiscal agent. The City has one Private Purpose Trust Fund, which is used to report the resources held and 
administered by the Successor Agency to the former Community Development Agency of the City. 
Agency Funds have no measurement focus and are excluded from the government-wide financial 
statements but are presented in separate fiduciary fund financial statements.

G. Basis of Accounting

The government-wide, proprietary and fiduciary funds financial statements required by GASB No. 34 are 
reported using the “economic resources” measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. 
Accordingly, all of the City’s assets and liabilities, including capital assets and long-term liabilities, are 
included in the accompanying Statement of Net Position. The Statement of Activities presents changes in 
net position. Under the accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized in the period in which they 
are earned, while expenses are recognized in the period in which the liability is incurred.

The governmental fund financial statements are accounted for on a spending or “current financial 
resources” measurement focus, and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Accordingly, only current 
assets and liabilities (except for long-term advances from the City) are included in the Balance Sheet. The 
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances presents increases (revenues and 
other financing sources) and decreases (expenditures and other financing uses) in net current assets. 
Under the modified accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized in the accounting period in 
which they become both measurable and available to finance expenditures of the current period.
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

G. Basis of Accounting (concluded)

Revenues are recorded when received in cash, except that revenues subject to accrual (generally 60 days 
after fiscal year end) are recognized when due. The primary revenue sources that have been treated as 
susceptible to accrual by the City, are property taxes, sales taxes, intergovernmental revenues, other taxes 
and investment earnings. Fines, licenses and permits, and charges for services are not susceptible to 
accrual because they are not measurable until received in cash. Expenditures are recorded in the 
accounting period in which the related fund liability is incurred.

Grant revenues are recognized in the fiscal year in which all eligibility requirements are met. Under the 
terms of grant agreements, the City may fund certain programs with a combination of cost-
reimbursement grants, categorical block grants and general revenues. Thus, both restricted and 
unrestricted net position may be available to finance program expenditures. The City’s policy is to first 
apply restricted grant resources to such programs, followed by general revenues if necessary.

Non-exchange transactions, in which the City gives or receives value without directly receiving or giving 
value in exchange, include taxes, grants, entitlements and donations. On the accrual basis, revenue from 
taxes is recognized in the fiscal year for which the taxes are levied or assessed. Revenue from grants, 
entitlements and donations is recognized in the fiscal year in which all eligibility requirements have been 
satisfied.

The City follows Statements and Interpretations of the Financial Accounting Standards Board and its 
predecessors that were issued on or before November 30, 1989, in accounting for its business-type 
activities, unless they conflict with GASB pronouncements. The reconciliations of the fund financial 
statements to the government-wide financial statements are provided to explain the differences created by 
the integrated approach of GASB No. 34.

H. Budgetary Policies

Each year, all departments of the City submit a request for appropriation to the City Manager so a budget 
may be prepared. The budget is prepared by fund, function and activity, and includes information on the 
past year, current year estimates and requested appropriations for the next fiscal year.

Before June 30, the proposed budget is presented to the City Council for review. The City Council holds 
public hearings and may add to, subtract from or change appropriations, but may not change the form of 
the budget. Any changes in the budget must be within the revenues and reserves estimated as available by 
the City Manager or the revenue estimates must be changed by an affirmative vote of a majority of the 
City Council.

Expenditures may not legally exceed budgeted appropriations at the activity level. 
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

I.  Deposits and Investments

The City pools cash from all sources and all funds, except certain specific investments within funds and 
cash with fiscal agents, so that it can be invested at the maximum yield, consistent with safety and 
liquidity, while individual funds can make expenditures at any time.

The City’s investment policy and section 53601 of the California Government Code allow the following 
investments:

a) Certificates of Deposit;
b) Obligations of the State of California.

The City does not enter into reverse repurchase agreements.

The City’s investments are carried at fair value instead of cost, as required by U.S. generally accepted 
accounting principles. The City adjusts the carrying value of its investments to reflect their fair value at 
each fiscal year end if material, and it includes the effects of these adjustments in income for that fiscal 
year.

The City places certain funds with the State of California’s Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF). The 
City is a voluntary participant in LAIF, which is regulated by California Government Code Section 16429 
under the oversight of the Treasurer of the State of California and the Pooled Money Investment Board. 
The State Treasurer’s office pools these funds with those of other governmental agencies in the state and 
invests the cash. The fair value of the City’s investment in this pool is reported in the accompanying 
financial statements based upon the City’s pro-rata share of the fair value provided by LAIF for the entire 
LAIF portfolio (in relation to the amortized cost of that portfolio). 

The monies held in the pooled investment funds are not subject to categorization by risk category. The 
balance available for withdrawal is based on the accounting records maintained by LAIF, which are 
recorded on the amortized cost basis. Funds are accessible and transferable to the master account with 
twenty-four hours’ notice. Included in LAIF’s investments are collateralized mortgage obligations, 
mortgage-backed securities, other asset-backed securities, loans to certain state funds, and floating rate 
securities issued by federal agencies, government-sponsored enterprises, and corporations. Financial 
statements for LAIF can be obtained from the California State Treasurer’s Office: State Treasurer’s 
Office, 915 Capitol Mall, Suite 110, Sacramento, CA 95814.

Cash and Cash Equivalents: 
Cash and investments are used in preparing proprietary fund statements of cash flows because these 
assets are highly liquid and are expended to liquidate liabilities arising during the year.

J. Inventories

The City does not record and maintain inventory records of unused materials and supplies for the various 
funds. Inventories are considered immaterial and materials and supplies are currently expensed.
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

K. Restricted Assets

Certain proceeds of enterprise fund loans (as well as certain resources set aside for their repayment) and 
resources set aside for repayment of capital leases are classified as restricted assets on the balance sheet 
because their use is limited by applicable loan or other covenants.

L. Capital Assets

The City’s assets are capitalized at historical cost or estimated historical cost. City policy has set the 
capitalization threshold for reporting capital assets at $10,000. Gifts or contributions of capital assets are 
recorded at fair market value on the date donated. Depreciation of capital assets is charged as an expense 
each year, and the total amount of accumulated depreciation taken over the years is reported on the 
Statement of Net Position as a reduction in the book value of capital assets.

M. Compensated Absences

Full-time employees accumulate earned vacation, holiday and compensated leave of varying amounts 
dependent upon length of service with the City. These amounts are deemed fully vested with the 
employee when earned. The City also provides full time employees with sick leave that generally must be 
used for sickness and injury-related leave time. However, upon an employee’s retirement after 5 years of 
employment with the City, an employee is paid 30% of unused sick leave and after 10 years of 
employment they are paid 50%. In both cases the limit is 1,000 hours. Therefore, a liability has been 
recorded for the estimated benefits that will be taken as a result of retirement.

The City does not currently provide post-employment benefits.

N. Deposits

The City collects refundable deposits on behalf of the enterprise funds for general purposes that are 
primarily accounted for in enterprise funds.

O. Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the 
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from 
those estimates.

P. Net Position

Government-wide net position consists of the following:

Restricted Net Position – This amount is restricted by external creditors, grantors, contributors, laws or 
regulations of other governments.

Unrestricted Net Position – This amount is all net position that does not meet the definition of “invested 
in capital assets, net of related debt” or “restricted net position”.
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

P. Net Position (concluded)

Invested in Capital Assets, Net of Related Debt – This category groups all capital assets into one 
component of net position. Accumulated depreciation and the outstanding balances of debt that are 
attributable to the acquisition, construction or improvement of these assets reduce the balance in this 
category.

Governmental fund balance consists of the following:

Fund Equity:
The accompanying financial statements reflect certain changes that have been made with respect to the 
reporting components of fund balances for governmental funds. In previous years, fund balances for 
governmental funds were reported in accordance with previous standards that included components for 
reserved fund balance, unreserved fund balance, designated fund balance, and undesignated fund balance. 
Due to the implementation of GASB No. 54, the components of the fund balances of governmental funds
now reflect the component classifications described below. In the fund financial statements, 
governmental fund balances are reported in the following classifications:

Nonspendable fund balance includes amounts that are not in a spendable form, such as prepaid items 
or supplies inventories, or that are legally or contractually required to remain intact, such as principal 
endowments.

Restricted fund balance includes amounts that are subject to externally enforceable legal restrictions 
imposed by outside parties (i.e., creditors, grantors, contributors) or that are imposed by law through 
constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.

Committed fund balance includes amounts whose use is constrained by specific limitations that the 
government imposes upon itself, as determined by a formal action of the highest level decision-making 
authority. The City Council serves as the City’s highest level decision-making authority and has the 
authority to establish, modify or rescind a fund balance commitment via minute’s action.

Assigned fund balance includes amounts intended to be used by the City for specific purposes, subject 
to change, as established either directly by the City Council or by management officials to whom the 
assignment authority has been delegated by the City Council.

Unassigned fund balance is the residual classification that includes the spendable amounts in the 
General Fund that are available for any purpose.

When expenditures are incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted (committed, 
assigned, or unassigned) fund balances are available, the City’s policy specifies that restricted revenues 
will be applied first. When expenditures are incurred for the purposes for which committed, assigned, or 
unassigned fund balances are available, the City’s policy is to apply committed fund balances first, then
apply assigned fund balances, and finally unassigned fund balances.
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Q. Property Tax

The County of Mendocino assesses properties, bills for, collects, and distributes property taxes for the 
City per the following schedule:

Secured       Unsecured 
Valuation dates March 1 March 1
Lien/levy dates July 1 July 1
Due dates 50% on November 1

50% on February 1
July 1

Delinquent as of December 10, April 10 August 31

The term “unsecured” refers to taxes on personal property other than real estate, land and buildings. 
These taxes are secured by liens on the property being taxed. Property tax revenues are recognized by the
City in the fiscal year they are assessed provided they become available as defined above.

R. Inter-fund Transactions

A description of the two basic types of the City’s inter-fund transactions during the fiscal year and the 
related accounting policies are set forth as follows:

a) Transactions related directly to services rendered, or facilities provided, are recorded as revenues 
in the fund providing the service or facility and as expenditures (or expenses) in the fund 
receiving them.

b) Transactions to allocate resources from one fund to another, not contingent on the occurrence 
of specific expenditures in the receiving fund, are recorded appropriately as transfers in and 
transfers out in the respective funds.

S. Long-term Obligations

In the government-wide financial statements, and proprietary fund types in the fund financial statements, 
long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the applicable governmental 
activities, business-type activities, or proprietary fund type Statement of Net Position. Bond premiums 
and discounts, as well as issuance costs, are deferred and amortized over the life of the bond using the 
effective interest method.  Bonds payable are reported net of the applicable bond premium or discount. 

In the financial statements, governmental fund types recognize bond premiums and discounts, as well as 
bond issuance costs, during the current period. The face amount of debt issued is reported as other 
financing sources. Premiums received on debt issuances are reported as other financing sources while 
discounts on debt issuances are reported as other financing uses. Issuance costs, whether or not withheld 
from the actual debt proceeds received, are reported as debt service expenditures.

T. Revenue Recognition for Water and Sewer Funds

Revenues are recognized based on cycle billings rendered to customers. All residential and commercial 
utility customers are billed once per month. There is one billing cycle per month that includes all types of 
customers, based on their location within the City. Revenues for services provided but not billed at the 
end of a fiscal year are accrued. Contributions of cash or assets to proprietary funds from state and 
federal agencies, developers and others are recorded as revenue.

DR
AF
T



City of Willits
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

June 30, 2015

- 32 -

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (concluded)

U.   Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources

Pursuant to GASB No. 63, Financial Reporting of Deferred Outflows of Resources, Deferred Inflow of Resources, and 
Net Position, and GASB No. 65, Items Previously Reported as Assets and Liabilities, the City recognizes deferred 
outflows and inflows of resources.

In addition to assets, the Statement of Net Position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred 
outflows of resources. A deferred outflow of resources is defined as a consumption of net position by the 
government that is applicable to a future reporting period. The City has no items that qualify for 
reporting in this category.

In addition to liabilities, the Statement of Net Position will sometimes report a separate section for 
deferred inflows of resources. A deferred inflow of resources is defined as an acquisition of net position 
by the City that is applicable to a future reporting period. The City has no items that qualify for reporting 
in this category.

Pensions
For purposes of measuring the net pension liability and deferred outflows/inflows of resources related to 
pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the City’s California 
Public Employees’ Retirement System (CalPERS) plans (Plans) and additions to/deductions from the 
Plans’ fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by CalPERS. For 
this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and 
payable in accordance with the benefit terms.  Investments are reported at fair value. 

NOTE 2 - CASH AND INVESTMENTS

A. Pooled Cash and Investments

The City pools cash from all sources and funds, except certain specific investments within funds and cash 
with fiscal agents, so that it can be invested at the maximum yield, consistent with safety and liquidity, 
while individual funds can make expenditures at any time.

Categorization of Credit Risk of Securities Instruments
The City and its fiscal agents invest in individual investments and in investment pools. Individual 
investments are evidenced by specific identifiable pieces of paper called securities instruments, or by an 
electronic entry registering the owner in the records of the institution issuing the security, called the book 
entry system. Individual investments are generally made by the City’s fiscal agents as required under its 
debt issues. In order to maximize security, the City employs the Trust Department of a bank as custodian 
of all City managed investments, regardless of their form.

Investments are carried at fair value and are categorized as follows at June 30, 2015:

Restricted cash and investments with fiscal agent $        1,343,158 
State of California Local Agency Investment Fund          3,788,239 

Cash deposits with banks          5,522,209 
         Total City cash and investments $      10,653,606 
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NOTE 2 - CASH AND INVESTMENTS (continued)

A. Pooled Cash and Investments (continued)

The City’s total cash and investments consist of:

City Treasury $       7,696,653 

Fiduciary Funds         1,303,237 

Fiscal Agent          1,343,158 

Restricted           310,558 

     Total City cash and investments $      10,653,606

Custodial Credit Risk - Deposits
Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that, in the event of the failure of a depository financial 
institution, a government will not be able to recover its deposits or will not be able to recover collateral 
securities that are in the possession of an outside party. 

California Law requires banks and savings and loan associations to pledge government securities with a 
market value of 110% of the City’s cash on deposit or first trust deed mortgage notes with a value of 
150% of the deposit as collateral for these deposits. Under California Law, this collateral is held in the 
City’s name and places the City ahead of general creditors of the institution. 

Custodial Credit Risk – Investments
Custodial credit risk for investments is the risk that in the event of the failure of a counterparty, the City 
will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that are in the possession of 
an outside party. All investments in LAIF and the fiscal agent money market funds are not evidenced by 
specific securities and, therefore, are not subject to custodial credit risk.

Authorized Investments
The City’s investments are carried at fair value instead of cost, as required by U.S. generally accepted 
accounting principles. 

The City adjusts the carrying value of its investments to reflect their fair value at each fiscal year end if 
material and it includes the effects of these adjustments in income for that fiscal year.

Investments Authorized by Debt Agreements
Investments of bond proceeds, held by bond trustees, are governed by the provisions of the debt 
agreements, rather than the general provisions for the California Government Code or the City’s 
investment policy. The table below identifies the investment types that are authorized for investments 
held by fiscal agents. The table also identifies certain provisions of these debt agreements that address 
interest rate risk, credit risk, and concentration of credit risk.

Authorized Investment Type
Maximum 
Maturity

Maximum 
Percentage 
Allowed

Maximum 
Investment in 

One Issuer
Money Market Accounts N/A None None
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NOTE 2 - CASH AND INVESTMENTS (concluded)

A. Pooled Cash and Investments (concluded)

Disclosures Relating to Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an 
investment. Generally, the longer the maturity of an investment is, the greater its fair value sensitivity to 
changes in market interest rates. One of the ways that the City manages its exposure to interest rate risk is 
by purchasing a combination of shorter-term and longer-term investments and by timing cash flows from 
maturities so that a portion of the portfolio is maturing or coming close to maturity evenly over time as 
necessary to provide the cash flow and liquidity needed for operations.

Information about the sensitivity of the fair values of the City’s investments to market interest rate 
fluctuations is provided by the following table that shows the distribution of the City’s investments by 
maturity:

Remaining Maturity (in Months)

Investment Type
Carrying 
Amount

12 Months 
or Less

13-24 
Months

25-60 
Months

More than 
60 Months

Held by Fiscal Agent:

  Money Market Accounts $  1,343,158 $  1,343,158 $               - $               - $             -

Disclosures Relating to Credit Risk
Generally, credit risk is the risk that an issuer of an investment will not fulfill its obligation to the holder 
of the investment. That is measured by the assignment of a rating by a nationally recognized rating 
organization. Presented below is the minimum rating required by the California Government Code, and 
the actual rating as of fiscal year end for each investment type.

Minimum Exempt Rating as of Fiscal Year End

Investment Type
Carrying 
Amount

Legal 
Rating

From 
Disclosure AAA AA Not Rated

Held by Fiscal Agent:

  Money Market Accounts $  1,343,158 N/A $              - $          - $          - $  1,343,158

NOTE 3 - LOANS RECEIVABLE

The City engages in programs designed to encourage business enterprises, construction or improvement 
in low-to-moderate income housing, or other projects. Under these programs, grants or loans are 
provided with favorable terms to businesses, homeowners or developers who agree to spend these funds 
in accordance with the City’s terms. 

These loans receivable were comprised of the following at June 30, 2015:

Housing Rehabilitation and Affordable Housing Notes (fiduciary funds)      $      284,080

Housing Rehabilitation, Business Enterprise and Affordable Housing:
The City has provided loans to various homeowners and businesses for rehabilitation. The maximum loan 
amount is $59,000, carrying various interest rates and payment dates. Although these notes are expected 
to be repaid in full, their balance has been offset by a reservation of fund balance. The balance of these 
notes receivable at June 30, 2015 was $284,080.
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NOTE 4 - CAPITAL ASSETS

All capital assets are valued at historical cost or estimated cost if actual historical cost is not available. 
Contributed capital assets are valued at their estimated fair value on the date contributed.

With the implementation of GASB No. 34, the City has begun recording costs and depreciation of 
current infrastructure assets. The City does not record depreciation in the year of acquisition and records 
a full year of depreciation in the year of disposition for capital assets related to governmental activities.

GASB No. 34 requires that all capital assets with limited useful lives be depreciated over their estimated 
useful lives. The purpose of the depreciation is to spread the cost of the capital assets equitably among all 
users over the life of these assets. The amount charged to depreciation expense each year represents that 
year’s pro-rata share of the cost of the capital assets. Depreciation is provided using the straight-line 
method over its expected useful life. Capital assets with a value of $10,000 or more are capitalized.

The City has assigned the following useful lives to capital assets: Buildings and Improvements (10-75 
years); Vehicles and Equipment (3-40 years); Infrastructure (10-50 years); and Utility Plant (10-50 years).

The following is a summary of capital assets activity for governmental activities as of June 30, 2015:

Balance Balance 

7/1/14 Additions Deletions 6/30/15

Land (not depreciated) $       150,963 $                - $                  - $       150,963 
Buildings and improvements 1,650,020            -            - 1,650,020 
Equipment 1,705,248 14,624                 - 1,719,872 

     Total cost 3,506,231 $       14,624 $                  - 3,520,855 

Accumulated depreciation (3,000,908) (3,078,895)
Net capital assets $       505,323 $       441,960 

The changes in proprietary fund types fixed assets for the fiscal year are:

Balance Balance 

7/1/14 Additions Deletions 6/30/15

Land (not depreciated) $    1,804,213 $                - $                 - $    1,804,213 
Construction in progress 
         (not depreciated)

   
31,675,576     763,978 26,700,739 5,738,815 

Buildings 7,695,901                 -                 - 7,695,901 
Infrastructure 8,655,568 26,700,739                 - 35,356,307 
Plant and equipment 8,988,680                -                 - 8,988,680 
     Total cost 58,819,938 $27,464,717 $ 26,700,739   59,583,916

Accumulated depreciation (14,558,735) (15,893,488)

Net book value of enterprise funds $  44,261,203 $   43,690,428 

Depreciation Allocation
Depreciation expense is charged to functions and programs based on their usage of the related assets. The 
amounts allocated to each function or program, are as follows:
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NOTE 4 - CAPITAL ASSETS (concluded)

Governmental Activities

   Public safety $                 38,993
   Public works                   38,994
            Total Governmental Activities $               77,987

Business-type Activities

   Water $              325,702
   Airport 14,675
   Sewer            994,378
            Total Business-type Activities $           1,334,755

NOTE 5 - LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS

Changes in long-term obligations and debt for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015 are as follows:

Original Balance Balance

Issue June 30, June 30, Current

Amount 2014 Additions Retirements 2015 Portion

Governmental Activity Debt:

Capital Leases $    116,112 $       21,114 $                -   $         6,114 $        15,000 $     15,000 

Total Governmental Activity Debt $   116,112 $       21,114 $                -   $         6,114 $        15,000 $     15,000 

Business-type Activity Debt:

1994 Public Facilities Bond $ 4,765,000 $      340,000 $               -   $     340,000 $                -   $            -

1993 Sewer Bonds 4,710,000     3,440,000                   -        105,000    3,335,000    110,000 

California Dept. Water Loan 3,375,000     1,081,764                   -       246,003      835,761   172,662 

State Water Revolving Fund loan                 -     3,366,510      -     195,575   3,170,935      99,287 

2007 Waste Water Sewer Loan A 9,000,000     8,405,500                   -       117,000     8,288,500   119,500 

2007 Waste Water Sewer Loan B 1,285,000     1,202,500                   -       16,500 1,186,000     17,000 

2011 Waste Water Bonds 51,000     7,920,000      -      133,000 7,787,000    136,000 

Capital Lease 394,923        223,950                   -         98,481   125,469 91,313 

Landfill Post-closure   1,147,553        483,618                   -          104,728         378,890                 -   

Total Business-type Activity Debt $24,728,476 $26,463,842 $                - $  1,356,287 $  25,107,555 $  745,762 
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NOTE 5 - LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (continued)

Bonds and Notes Payable
Long-term debt at June 30, 2015 consists of the following:

Year Ending Capital Leases
State Water Resource 

Loan
2011 State Water Revolving 

Fund Loan
June 30 Interest Principal Interest Principal     Interest Principal 

2016 $              -   $     106,313 $    32,943 $ 172,514 $               - $      99,287 
2017               -         22,406       25,601    179,856               -     105,919 
2018               -            11,750        18,126   187,331               -   105,919 
2019               -                 -         10,281    195,176               -     105,919 
2020               -                 -           2,101      100,884                 -     105,919 

2021-2025               -                -                 -                 -                 -   529,595 
2026-2030               -                 -                 -                 -                 -   529,595 
2031-2035               -                 -                 -                 -                 -     529,594 
2036-2040               -                 -                 -                 -                 -     529,594 
2041-2045               -                 -                 -                -                  -     529,594 
2046-2050                -                     -                 -                 -                 -                     -   

Totals $              -   $     140,469 $    89,052 $ 835,761 $              -   $   3,170,935

Year Ending 1993 Sewer Bonds
June 30 Interest Principal

2016 $    168,100 $     110,000 
2017       162,335       115,000 
2018       156,313       120,000 
2019       150,035       125,000 
2020      143,500       130,000 

2021-2025      606,029     770,000 
2026-2030       383,582       980,000 
2031-2035   103,911      985,000 

Totals $  1,873,805 $  3,335,000 

Year Ending
2007A Sewer WW 

Treatment
2007B Sewer WW 

Treatment
2011 A Sewer WW 

Treatment
June 30 Interest Interest Interest Principal Interest Principal

2016 $     349,828 $    119,500 $       49,937 $       17,000 $     192,976 $     136,000 
2017       344,643      124,500         49,204         17,500      189,538       139,000 
2018       339,235     130,000         48,439         18,500       186,013       143,000 
2019    333,593      135,500       47,632     19,500        182,401     146,000 
2020     327,717      141,000         46,793         20,000       178,701   150,000 

2021-2025 1,541,347    801,000        220,075      114,500       834,565     809,000 
2026-2030 1,352,103     986,500        193,013    141,000       727,001       914,000 
2031-2035 1,119,037 1,214,500       159,756     173,000       605,315     1,035,000 
2036-2040      832,129   1,495,000     118,881      213,500      467,638   1,171,000 
2041-2045     478,964 1,840,500     68,363     263,000      311,876    1,324,000 

2046-2050         84,597    1,303,000        12,071       186,000      135,753    1,498,000 

2051-2055                  -                     -                  -                     -              4,025        322,000 

Totals $  7,103,193 $  8,291,000 $ 1,014,164 $  1,183,500 $  4,015,802 $  7,787,000 
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NOTE 5 - LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (continued)

Compensated Absences Payable
There is no fixed payment schedule to pay the liability of $372,060 for compensated absences through 
June 30, 2015.

The net changes of the compensated absences are allocated to the public safety department on the 
Statement of Activities.

2011 Waste Water Sewer Loans Series:  On March 1, 2011, the City issued 
$8,300,000 in debt to provide funds for the construction of a Waste Water 
Treatment Plant. Interest is payable semi-annually on May 1 and November 1, 
at a rate of 2.5%. The outstanding principal balance is payable in annual 
installments, due each November 1, ranging from $125,000 to $322,000 
through the fiscal year 2050. $         7,787,000          
     Less current portion               136,000 

$          7,651,000 

Capital Leases: The City leases equipment under various capital lease agreements 
with interest rates ranging from 0-6.5%. $             140,469 
     Less current portion               106,313 

$              34,156 

2007 Waste Water Sewer Loans Series A and B:  On May 1, 2008, the City 
issued $10,285,000 in debt to provide funds for the construction of a Waste 
Water Treatment Plant. Interest is payable semi-annually on May 1 and 
November 1, at a rate of 4.25%. The outstanding principal balance is payable in 
annual installments, due each November 1, ranging from $100,000 to $516,500 
through the fiscal year 2047. $          9,474,500 
     Less current portion               136,500 

$          9,338,000 

Loan Payable to Other Agency: The City has obtained a loan from the 
California Department of Water Resources to finance an upgrade of the water 
treatment plant to comply with safe drinking water standards. The debt is 
required to be serviced through water system user charges. The maximum loan 
amount is $3,375,000 plus a 4% administrative fee of $135,000. Principal and 
interest are payable semi-annually on April 1 and October 1. The rate of 
interest is 4.1439%. Semi-annual principal payments range from $48,107 to 
$100,657, and continue through the fiscal year 2020. $            835,761 
     Less current portion              172,662 

$            663,099 
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NOTE 5 - LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (concluded)

Long-term obligations for the business-type activities at June 30, 2015 by individual issue are as follows:

NOTE 6 - SUCCESSOR AGENCY DISCLOSURES

Long-term Liabilities: In accordance with the provisions of ABX1 26 (Bill) and the California Supreme 
Court’s decision to uphold the Bill, the obligations of the former Community Development Agency 
became vested with the funds established for the Successor Agency upon the date of dissolution, 
February 1, 2012. Former tax increment revenues pledged to fund the debts of the former Community 
Development Agency will be distributed to the Successor Agency subject to the reapportionment of such 
revenues as provided by the Bill.

2002 Tax Allocation Bonds: On September 10, 2002, the City’s Community Development Agency issued 
$4,310,000 in Tax Allocation Bonds to provide funds for improvement projects, establish a reserve fund 
for the Bonds, and pay expenses related to the issuance of the Bonds. Interest is payable semi-annually 
on March 1 and September 1, at rates ranging from 4-5%.

The debt of the Successor Agency as of June 30, 2015 is as follows:

Original Balance Balance

Issue June 30, June 30, Current

Amount 2014 Additions Retirements 2015 Portion

Successor Agency:

2002 Tax Allocation Bonds $ 4,310,000 $ 3,410,000 $               -   $    200,000 $ 3,210,000 $    250,000 

2011 State Revolving Fund Loan: In November of 2011, the City Council 
adopted a Resolution approving funding in the amount of $5,779,623 for the 
Water Plant Improvements Project.  The funding is through the California 
Department of Public Health revolving loan fund, consisting of loan principal
of $3,366,510 and a grant in the amount of $3,000,000.  The term of the loan is 
30 years, with interest at zero (0%) percent. The maximum loan amount is 
$3,170,935. Principal and interest are payable semi-annually on January 1 and 
July 1. The rate of interest is 0%. Semi-annual principal payments are $105,919, 
and continue through the fiscal year 2040. $        3,170,935
     Less current portion             99,287

$       3,071,648

City of Willits Sewer Revenue Bonds of 1993: On November 23, 1993, the City 
issued $4,710,000 in serial bonds whereby the City pledges revenue derived 
from the acquired or constructed assets to pay debt service. The entire bond 
issue was purchased by the U.S. Farmers Home Administration. The proceeds 
from the bond issue were used to repay $4,710,000 of Sewer Bond Anticipation 
Notes which had been issued in 1992. Interest is payable semi-annually on 
November 1 and May 1, at a rate of 5.125%. The outstanding principal is 
payable in annual installments, due each November 1, ranging from $55,000 to 
$265,000 through the fiscal year 2034. $         3,335,000 
     Less current portion               110,000 
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NOTE 6 - SUCCESSOR AGENCY DISCLOSURES (concluded)

Allocation Bonds 2002
As of February 1, 2012, the bonds were transferred to the Successor Agency of the Willits Community 
Development Agency due to ABX1 26, which dissolved redevelopment agencies in the State of 
California as of January 1, 2012. The Successor Agency, a separate legal entity, is responsible for the 
repayment of the principal and interest of the outstanding bonds. Additions to the Successor Agency, in 
the form of property taxes, have been pledged for the repayment of enforceable obligations (which 
include the bonds). Since the Community Development Agency no longer exists, the bonds have been 
removed from the City’s government-wide financial statements.

The annual requirements to amortize the 2002 Tax Allocation Bonds outstanding as of June 30, 2015, are 
as follows:

2002 Tax Allocation Bonds
Year Ending June 30 Interest Principal
2016 $             151,179 $             250,000 
2017       139,748       265,000 
2018       127,460       275,000 
2019       114,320       290,000 
2020-2024       100,065    310,000 
2025-2029              244,815              1,820,000 

Totals $            877,587 $          3,210,000 

NOTE 7 - FUND EQUITY

The following funds have deficits in fund balances or net position at June 30, 2015:

Governmental Funds:
    West Commercial Street $             3,659
    Gas Tax 32,885
Business-type – Solid Waste 368,327

The governmental funds are expected to have their deficit eliminated through grant and loan
reimbursements and transfers from the General Fund and Enterprise Funds. The Solid Waste fund deficit 
is related to the future post-closure costs estimated liability, which may be funded through grant 
reimbursements, reduction to the estimated liability and transfers from the General Fund.

NOTE 8 - INTERFUND BALANCES

Current interfund balances arise in the normal course of business; resources may be transferred from one 
City fund to another. The purpose of the majority of the balances is to reimburse a fund that has made an 
expenditure on behalf of another fund. The City had no inter-fund balances at year end.
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NOTE 8 - INTERFUND BALANCES (concluded)

Transfers
The following schedule summarizes the transfers in and out for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015:

Transfers in Transfers out
Major Funds:
   General Fund $            15,000 $           36,601
   Sales Tax - 657,844

Other Governmental Funds:
   Traffic Safety             36,601                    -
   Gas Tax          201,464                 -
   Regional Transportation Improvement Program          451,873                 -
W. Commercial Street               4,507 -
Proprietary Funds:

   Water                     -         15,000
      Totals $          709,445 $         709,445

NOTE 9 - LANDFILL CLOSURE AND POST-CLOSURE COSTS

The City’s solid waste landfill was closed during the 1997/98 fiscal year. State and federal laws and 
regulations require that the City place a final cover (closure) on its landfill when closed, and perform 
certain maintenance and monitoring functions (post-closure) at the landfill site for thirty years after 
closure. At June 30, 2000, the City had completed its landfill closure activities and, therefore, no closure 
liability is included in the accompanying financial statements. The City’s estimated liability for the 
continuing landfill post-closure care costs at June 30, 2015 was $378,890.

The estimated total current cost of the landfill post-closure care is based on the amount that would be 
paid if all equipment, facilities, and services required to monitor and maintain the landfill were acquired as 
of June 30, 2015. However, the actual cost of post-closure care may change due to inflation, changes in 
technology, or changes in landfill laws and regulations.

NOTE 10 - CONTINGENCIES

Amounts received or receivable from grantor agencies are subject to audit and adjustment by grantor 
agencies, principally the federal government. Any disallowed claims, including amounts already collected, 
may constitute a liability of the applicable funds. The amount, if any, of expenditures that may be 
disallowed by the grantor cannot be determined at this time although the City expects such amounts, if 
any, to be immaterial.

The City violated the National Primary Drinking Water Regulations maximum contaminant level for total 
Trihalomethanes (TTHMs) which is one of the contaminant standards required by the Safe Drinking 
Water Act. The cost of the violation to the City cannot be currently determined.

There are other pending lawsuits in which the City is involved. Although the outcome of these lawsuits is 
not presently determinable, it is the opinion of the City Attorney that the resolution of these matters will 
not have a material adverse effect on the financial condition of the City.
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NOTE 11 - CONTRACTED SERVICES

The City has entered into an agreement to provide services to persons living outside the City limits. The 
general purpose and description of this contract agreement is as follows:

Brooktrails Community Services District:
The City has made an agreement with the District to provide the District with sewage treatment. Under 
the terms of the agreement, the District is to reimburse the City for costs allocated to the District based 
on the ratio of total flow entering the treatment plant. The cost allocation was carried over from previous 
years. During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015, the City settled the lawsuit with the District. The new 
District allocation of $22,000 per month begins July 1, 2015 as well as 36% of the bond payments.

NOTE 12 - JOINT POWERS AGREEMENTS

The City is a member of various joint powers authorities, which provide goods or services to the City and 
other authority members. Under the criteria established by GASB No. 14, the City does not have 
sufficient authority, influence or accountability over these entities to incorporate them in this annual 
report. Additionally, the City has determined that it has no ongoing financial interest in or responsibility 
for any of these organizations as defined by GASB No. 14. The names and general functions of these 
joint powers are as follows:

Redwood Empire Municipal Insurance Fund (REMIF):
A group of Northern California cities participate in this agreement to provide themselves with various 
levels of liability, property and workers’ compensation insurance. REMIF is administered by a 
commission comprised of one member and one alternate appointed by each member city. The City 
provides for its general insurance needs through REMIF. During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015, the 
City paid $483,010 to REMIF for insurance coverage. Beginning July 1, 2015 REMIF city members have 
become self-insured with their health benefits.

Mendocino Solid Waste Management Authority:
Mendocino Solid Waste Management Authority consists of three (3) Mendocino County cities and the 
County of Mendocino. Mendocino Solid Waste Management Authority was created for the purpose of: 
(a) siting, licensing, developing, constructing, maintaining, and operating disposal sites and sanitary 
landfills and (b) preparing and implementing a solid waste management plan. Mendocino Solid Waste 
Management Authority is governed by a commission comprised of one member from each city and two 
members who are appointed by the Mendocino County Board of Supervisors.

Mendocino Emergency Services Authority:
Mendocino Emergency Services Authority (the Authority) consists of four (4) Mendocino County cities 
and the County of Mendocino. The Authority was created for the purpose of coordinating disaster and 
other emergency preparedness planning and recovery programs, training of employees and volunteers, 
administration of disaster recovery assistance programs, and other related activities. The Authority is 
governed by a commission comprised of one member from each member agency. 
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NOTE 12 - JOINT POWERS AGREEMENTS (concluded)

Solid Waste Disposal Facility Operations Agreement:
The City and the County of Mendocino have entered into an agreement for the purpose of joint 
ownership, maintenance and operation of the solid waste landfill serving the City and certain 
unincorporated areas of the County of Mendocino. The City has been granted complete control of and 
authority over the administration, operation and maintenance of the landfill. The City and County will 
equally share the costs associated with the landfill including the purchase of equipment and closure/post-
closure costs. Due to the City’s overall control of the landfill activity, the accompanying financial 
statements include 100% of the landfill activity, including the liability for closure/post-closure costs 
described in Note 9 above.

NOTE 13 - DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN

The City offers its employees deferred compensation plans created in accordance with Internal Revenue 
Code Section 457. The plans, available to all City employees, permit employees to defer a portion of their 
salary until future years. Participation in the plans is optional. The deferred compensation is not available 
to employees until termination, retirement, death, or unforeseeable emergency. As explained previously,
the City has adopted the provisions of GASB No. 32 and, therefore, assets and liabilities of these plans 
have been excluded from the accompanying financial statements.

NOTE 14 - DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN

A. Public Employees Retirement System

Plan Description: Based on PERS eligibility criteria all qualified permanent and probationary employees 
are eligible to participate in the City’s following cost-sharing multiple employer defined benefit pension 
plans (Plans):

 City Miscellaneous (Tier 1)

 City Miscellaneous (Tier 2 - PEPRA)

 City Safety (Tier 1)

 City Safety (Tier 2 - PEPRA)

The Plans are administered by the California Public Employees’ Retirement System (CalPERS). Benefit 
provisions under the Plans are established by State statute and District resolution. CalPERS issues publicly 
available reports that include a full description  of  the  pension  plans  regarding  benefit  provisions,  
assumptions  and membership information that can be found on the CalPERS website.

Benefits Provided - CalPERS provides service retirement and disability benefits, annual cost of living 
adjustments and death benefits to plan members, who must be public employees and beneficiaries. 
Benefits are based on years of credited service, equal to one year of full time employment. Members 
with five years of total service are eligible to retire at age 50 with statutorily reduced benefits. All 
members are eligible for non-duty disability benefits after 10 years of service. The death benefit is one of 
the following: the Basic Death Benefit, the 1957 Survivor Benefit, or the Optional Settlement 2W Death 
Benefit. The cost of living adjustments for each plan are applied as specified by the Public Employees’ 
Retirement Law. The applicable PERS plan depends on the employee classification and hire date.  In some 
situations hiring of an employee who was previously an active member in PERS results in the “Classic” Plan 
benefit regardless of the date of hiring.
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NOTE 14 - DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN (continued)

A. Public Employees Retirement System (continued)

The Plan provisions and benefits in effect at June 30, 2015, are summarized as follows: 

Contributions - Section 20814(c) of the California Public Employees’ Retirement Law requires that the 
employer contribution rates for all public employers be determined on an annual basis by the actuary and shall 
be effective on the July 1 following notice of a change in the rate.  Funding contributions for the Plans are 
determined annually on an actuarial basis as of June 30 by CalPERS.  The actuarially determined rate is 
the estimated amount necessary to finance the costs of benefits earned by employees during the year, with 
an additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability. The City is required to contribute the 
difference between the actuarially determined rate and the contribution rate of employees. 

For the year ended June 30, 2015, the contributions recognized as part of pension expense for each Plan 
were as follows: 

City Miscellaneous

Hire date
Prior to 

January 1, 2012
On or after

January 1, 2013
Benefit formula 2.5% @ 55 2% @ 62
Benefit vesting schedule 5 years service 5 years service
Benefit payments monthly for life monthly for life
Retirement age 50 - 55 52 - 67
Monthly benefits, as a % of eligible compensations 2.0% to 2.5% 1.0% to 2.5%
Required employee contribution rates 8% 6.25%
Required employer contribution rates 21.229% 6.25%

City Safety

Hire date
Prior to 

January 1, 2012

On or after
January 1, 2012

(or Classic)
On or after

January 1, 2013
Benefit formula 3% @ 50 3% @ 55 2.7% @ 57
Benefit vesting schedule 5 years service 5 years service 5 years service
Benefit payments monthly for life monthly for life monthly for life
Retirement age 50 - 55 50 - 55 50 - 57
Monthly benefits, as a % of eligible 

compensations 3% 2.4 to 3% 2.0% to 2.7%
Required employee contribution rates 9% 9% 11.5%
Required employer contribution rates 43.587% 20.774% 11.5%

Misc Tier 1 Misc Tier 2
Employer Contributions $351,264 $0

Safety Tier 1 Safety Tier 2
Employer Contributions $263,299 $0
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NOTE 14 - DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN (continued)

A. Public Employees Retirement System (continued)

As of June 30, 2015, the City reported net pension liabilities for its proportionate shares of the net pension 
liability of the Miscellaneous and Safety Plans as follows: 

The City’s net pension liability for the Plans is measured as the proportionate share of the net pension 
liability. The net pension liability of the Plans is measured as of June 30, 2014, and the total pension 
liability for each Plan used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation 
as of June 30, 2013 rolled forward to June 30, 2014 using standard update procedures. The City’s
proportion of the net pension liability was based on a projection of the City’s long-term share of 
contributions to the pension plans relative to the projected contributions of all participating employers, 
actuarially determined. The City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability for each Plan as of June 
30, 2013 and 2014 was as follows: 

For the year ended June 30, 2015, the District recognized pension expense of ($981,114). At June 
30, 2015, the District reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to 
pensions from the following sources: 

Proportionate
Share of Net

Pension Liability

Miscellaneous $          3,434,583
Safety             2,623,500
       Total Net Pension Liability $           6,058,083

City Miscellaneous Plan Miscellaneous
Proportion - June 30, 2013 .13%
Proportion - June 30, 2014 .075%
Change – Increase (Decrease) .0106%

City Safety Plan Safety
Proportion - June 30, 2013 .064%
Proportion - June 30, 2014 .070%
Change – Increase (Decrease) .006%

Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resources

Deferred 
Inflows of 
Resources

Pension contributions subsequent to measurement date $           607,282    $                      -         
Differences between actual and expected experience - -
Changes in assumptions - -

Change in employer's proportion and differences between
the employer’s contributions and the employer’s
proportionate share of contributions 7,281 (44,091)

Net differences between projected and actual earnings
on plan investments                        -         (1,274,154)

         Total $          614,563  $      (1,318,245)  
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NOTE 14 - DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN (continued)

A. Public Employees Retirement System (continued)

$614,563 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to contributions subsequent to the 
measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the year ended June 30, 
2016.  

Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to 
pensions will be recognized as pension expense as follows: 

Actuarial Assumptions - The total pension liabilities in the June 30, 2013 actuarial valuations were 
determined using the following actuarial assumptions: 

(1)   Depending on age, service and type of employment 
(2) Net of pension plan investment expenses, including inflation 
(3) The mortality table used was developed based on CalPERS’ specific data. The table 

includes 20 years of mortality improvements using Society of Actuaries Scale BB. For more 
details on this table, please refer to the CalPERS 2014 experience study report available on 
CalPERS website. 

(4) All of the City’s plans for miscellaneous employed the same assumptions.

The underlying mortality assumptions and all other actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2013 
valuation were based on the results of a January 2014 actuarial experience study for the period 1997 
to 2011.  Further details of the Experience Study can found on the CalPERS website. 

Year Ended June 30
2015 $          (332,339)
2016            (332,339)
2017            (329,578)
2018              (318,540)
2019 -
Thereafter -

All Plans(3)
Valuation Date June 30, 2013
Measurement Date June 30, 2014
Actuarial Cost Method Entry-Age Normal Cost Method

Actuarial Assumptions:

   Discount Rate 7.5%
   Inflation 2.75%
   Payroll Growth 3.0%

Projected Salary Increase 3.3% - 14.2% (1)
Investment Rate of Return 7.5% (2)
Mortality Derived using CalPERS Membership Data

for all Funds (3)
Post Retirement Benefit Increase Contract COLA up to 2.75% until Purchasing 

Power Protection Allowance Floor on 
Purchasing Power applies, 2.75% thereafter.
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NOTE 14 - DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN (continued)

A. Public Employees Retirement System (continued)

Discount Rate - The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.50% for each Plan. To 
determine whether the municipal bond rate should be used in the calculation of a discount rate for 
each plan, CalPERS stress tested plans that would most likely result in a discount rate that would be 
different from the actuarially assumed discount rate. Based on the testing, none of the tested plans run 
out of assets. Therefore, the current 7.50 percent discount rate is adequate and the use of the municipal 
bond rate calculation is not necessary. The long term expected discount rate of 7.50 percent will be 
applied to all plans in the Public Employees Retirement Fund (PERF). The stress test results are 
presented in a detailed report that can be obtained from the CalPERS website. 

According to Paragraph 30 of Statement 68, the long-term discount rate should be determined without 
reduction for pension plan administrative expense. The 7.50 percent investment return assumption used 
in this accounting valuation is net of administrative expenses. Administrative expenses are assumed to 
be 15 basis points. An investment return excluding administrative expenses would have been 7.65 
percent.  Using this lower discount rate has resulted in a slightly higher Total Pension Liability and Net 
Pension Liability. CalPERS checked the materiality threshold for the difference in calculation and did
not find it to be a material difference. 

CalPERS is scheduled to review all actuarial assumptions as part of its regular Asset Liability
Management (ALM) review cycle that is scheduled to be completed in February 2018. Any changes 
to the discount rate will require Board action and proper stakeholder outreach. For these reasons, 
CalPERS expects to continue using a discount rate net of administrative expenses for GASB 67 and 68 
calculations through at least the 2017-18 fiscal years. CalPERS will continue to check the materiality of 
the difference in calculation until such time as we have changed our methodology. 

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building-block 
method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of 
pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class.

In determining the long-term expected rate of return, CalPERS took into account both short-term and long-
term market return expectations as well as the expected pension fund cash flows. Using historical returns on 
all the funds’ asset classes, expected compound returns were calculated over the short-term (first 10 years) 
and the long-term (11-60 years) using a building-block approach. Using the expected nominal returns for 
both short-term and long-term, the present value of benefits was calculated for each fund. The expected rate 
of return was set by calculating the single equivalent expected return that arrived at the same present value of 
benefits for cash flows as the one calculated using both short-term and long-term returns. The expected rate 
of return was then set equivalent to the single equivalent rate calculated above and rounded down to the 
nearest one quarter of one percent.

The table below reflects the long-term expected real rate of return by asset class. The rate of return was 
calculated using the capital market assumptions applied to determine the discount rate and asset allocation. 
These rates of return are net of administrative expenses.
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NOTE 14 - DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN (continued)

A. Public Employees Retirement System (continued)

(1) An expected inflation of 2.5% used for this period
(2) An expected inflation of 3.0% used for this period.

Sensitivity of the Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate - The 
following presents the City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability for each Plan, calculated using 
the discount rate for each Plan, as well as what the City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability 
would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage point lower or 1-percentage point 
higher than the current rate: 

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position
Detailed information about each pension plan’s fiduciary net position is available in the separately issued 
CalPERS financial reports. 

As of June 30, 2015
Last 10 Years*

SCHEDULE OF THE CITY’S PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET PENSION 
LIABILITY

2014

Asset Class
New Strategic 

Allocation
Real Return 
Years 1-10(1)

Real Return 
Years 11+(2)

Global Equity   47.0%   5.25%    5.71%
Global Fixed Income 19.0 0.99 2.43          
Inflation Sensitive 6.0 0.45 3.36
Private Equity 12.0 6.83 6.95
Real Estate 11.0 4.50 5.13
Infrastructure and Forestland 3.0 4.50 5.09
Liquidity 2.0 (0.55) (1.05)

Miscellaneous Safety

1% Decrease 6.5% 6.5%

Net Pension Liability $5,475,513 $3,856,154

Current Discount Rate 7.50% 7.50%

Net Pension Liability $3,434,584 $2,623,500

1% Increase 8.50% 8.50%

Net Pension Liability $1,740,806 $1,607,846

City Safety Plan
City Safety 

Plan
Miscellaneous 

Plan
Proportion of the net pension liability 0.04216% 0.05520%
Proportionate share of the net pension liability   $2,623,500   $3,434,584
Covered - employee payroll $773,076 $1,612,018
Proportionate Share of the net pension liability as
      percentage of covered-employee payroll 339.36% 213.06%
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension liability 71.49% 77.67%
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NOTE 14 - DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN (concluded)

A. Public Employees Retirement System (concluded)

Notes to Schedule: 

Benefit changes. In 2014, benefit terms were modified to base public safety employee pensions on a final 
three-year average salary instead of a final five-year average salary. 

Changes in assumptions.  In 2014, amounts reported as changes in assumptions resulted primarily from 
adjustments to expected retirement ages of general employees. 

* Fiscal year 2015 was the 1st year of implementation, therefore only one year is shown. 

As of June 30, 2015
Last 10 Years*

SCHEDULE OF CONTRIBUTIONS
2014

Notes to Schedule:
Valuation date: 6/30/2013  

Methods and assumptions used to determine contribution rates:

Single and Agent Employers Example Entry age
Amortization method Level percentage of payroll, closed
Remaining amortization period 15 years
Asset valuation method 5-year smoothed market
Inflation 3.50%
Salary increases 4.5%, average, including inflation of 3.0%
Investment rate of return 7.75%, net of pension plan investment expense, incl. 

inflation
Retirement age 57 yrs.
Mortality RP-2000 Healthy Annuitant Mortality Table

* Fiscal year 2015 was the 1st year of implementation, therefore only one year is shown. 

NOTE 15 - PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS

The prior period adjustment of $(6,712,190) represents the change to the July 1, 2014 net position 
resulting from the GASB 68 implementation and the recording of the net pension liability. 

Safety Plan
Miscellaneous 

Plan
Contractually required contribution (actuarially determined) $          285,632 $         332,087
Contributions in relation to the actuarially determined 
contributions            (285,632)         (332,087)

$                     - $                   -

Contribution deficiency (excess) - -
Covered-employee payroll $773,076 $1,612,018
Contributions as a percentage of covered-employee payroll 36.95% 20.60%DR
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Variance with

Original Final Actual Final Budget

Revenues:

Taxes 2,764,145$       2,764,145$       2,896,602$       132,457$          

Licenses and permits 430,230            430,230            480,480            50,250             

Fines and forfeitures 5,200               5,200               9,734               4,534               

Charges for services 48,060             48,060             46,647             (1,413)              

Use of money and property 8,100               8,100               16,833             8,733               

Intergovernmental revenue 147,451            147,451            142,814            (4,637)              

Other revenues 793,831            793,831            853,190            59,359             

Total revenues 4,197,017         4,197,017         4,446,300         249,283            

Expenditures:

Current:

General government 1,060,085         1,060,085         1,003,063         57,022             

Public safety 2,475,997         2,475,997         2,317,117         158,880            

Public works 427,394            427,394            437,541            (10,147)            

Planning 45,710             45,710             101,430            (55,720)            

Community services 53,712             53,712             53,712             -                   

Parks and recreation 215,642            215,642            178,655            36,987             

Debt service:

Principal 14,082             14,082             6,114               7,968               

Interest 1,087               1,087               4,612               (3,525)              

Total expenditures 4,293,709         4,293,709         4,102,244         191,465            

Excess of revenues over (under) expenditures (96,692)            (96,692)            344,056            440,748            

Other financing sources (uses):

Transfers in 15,000             15,000             15,000             -                   

Transfers out (42,157)            (42,157)            (36,601)            5,556               

Total other financing sources (uses) (27,157)            (27,157)            (21,601)            5,556               

Excess (deficit) of revenues and other sources

over (under) expenditures and other uses (123,849)$         (123,849)$         322,455            446,304$          

Fund balance, beginning of period 1,999,156         

Fund balance, end of period 2,321,611$       

Budgeted Amounts

City of Willits

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

Budget and Actual 

For the year ended June 30, 2015

GENERAL FUND

(UNAUDITED)
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Variance with

Original Final Actual Final Budget

Revenues:

Taxes 901,418$      901,418$      919,520$      18,102$        

Other revenues 7,500           7,500           11,693         4,193           

Total revenues 908,918        908,918        931,213        22,295         

Expenditures:

Current:

Public works 279,649        279,649        186,221        93,428         

Total expenditures 279,649        279,649        186,221        93,428         

Excess of revenues over (under) expenditures 629,269        629,269        744,992        115,723        

Other financing sources (uses):

   Transfers out (256,346)      (256,346)      (657,844)      (401,498)      

Total other financing sources (uses) (256,346)      (256,346)      (657,844)      (401,498)      

Excess (deficit) of revenues and other sources

over (under) expenditures and other uses 372,923$      372,923$      87,148         (285,775)$     

Fund balance, beginning of period 2,087,084     

Fund balance, end of period 2,174,232$   

Budgeted Amounts

City of Willits

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

Budget and Actual 

For the year ended June 30, 2015

SALES TAX

(UNAUDITED)

- 51 -
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Variance with

Original Final Actual Final Budget

Revenues:

Taxes 152,297$      152,297$      153,063$      766$            

Charges for services 271,788        271,788        21,296         (250,492)      

Other revenues -               -               594              594              

Total revenues 424,085        424,085        174,953        (249,132)      

Expenditures:

Current:

General government 99,658         99,658         108,720 (9,062)          

Public works 415,073        415,073        280,262        134,811        

Total expenditures 514,731        514,731        388,982        125,749        

Excess of revenues over (under) expenditures (90,646)        (90,646)        (214,029)      (123,383)      

Other financing sources (uses):

   Transfers out 90,646         90,646         201,464        110,818        

Total other financing sources (uses) 90,646         90,646         201,464        110,818        

Excess (deficit) of revenues and other sources

over (under) expenditures and other uses -$             -$             (12,565)        (12,565)$      

Fund balance, beginning of period (20,320)        

Fund balance, end of period (32,885)$      

Budgeted Amounts

City of Willits

GAS TAX

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

Budget and Actual 

For the year ended June 30, 2015

(UNAUDITED)
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Honorable Members of the City Council
City of Willits
Willits, California

In planning and performing our audit of the basic financial statements of City of Willits for the fiscal year ended June 
30, 2015, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, we considered its 
internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing our auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing 
our opinion on the basic financial statements but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
its internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of City of Willits’ internal control.

A control deficiency exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or employees, in the 
normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent or detect misstatements on a timely basis. A 
significant deficiency is a control deficiency, or a combination of control deficiencies, that adversely affects the entity’s
ability to initiate, authorize, record, process, or report financial data reliably in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles such that there is more than a remote likelihood that a misstatement of the entity’s financial 
statements that is more than inconsequential will not be prevented or detected by the entity’s internal control.

A material weakness is a significant deficiency, or a combination of significant deficiencies, that results in more than a 
remote likelihood that a material misstatement of the financial statements will not be prevented or detected by the 
entity’s internal control.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph and would not 
necessarily identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be significant deficiencies or material weaknesses, as 
defined above. We did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses, as 
defined above.

During our audit, we noted certain matters involving internal controls and other operational matters that are 
presented for your consideration in this report. We will review the status of these comments during our next audit 
engagement. Our comments and recommendations, all of which have been discussed with appropriate members of 
management, are not intended to be all-inclusive, but rather represent those matters that we considered worthy of 
your consideration. Our comments and recommendations are submitted as constructive suggestions to assist you in 
strengthening controls and procedures; they are not intended to reflect on the honesty or integrity of any employee. 
We will be pleased to discuss these comments in further detail at your convenience, to perform any additional study of 
these matters, or to assist City of Willits in implementing the recommendations. 

This report is intended solely for the information and use of management of City of Willits and others within the 
organization, and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these specified parties.

We thank City of Willits’ staff for its cooperation during the course of our audit.

R.J. Ricciardi, Inc.
R.J. Ricciardi, Inc. 
Certified Public Accountants

San Rafael, California
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We have audited the basic financial statements of City of Willits for the year ended June 30, 2015. 
Professional standards require that we provide you with the following information related to our audit.

Our Responsibility under U.S. Generally Accepted Auditing Standards 

As stated in our engagement letter dated June 10, 2015, our responsibility, as described by professional 
standards, is to plan and perform our audit to obtain reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that the financial 
statements are free of material misstatement and are fairly presented in accordance with U.S. generally 
accepted accounting principles. Because an audit is designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute 
assurance and because we did not perform a detailed examination of all transactions, there is a risk that 
material misstatements may exist and not be detected by us.

As part of our audit, we considered the internal control of City of Willits. Such considerations were solely for 
the purpose of determining our audit procedures and not to provide any assurance concerning such internal 
control.

Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices
Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies. In accordance with 
the terms of our engagement letter, we will advise management about the appropriateness of accounting 
policies and their application. The significant accounting policies used by City of Willits are described in Note 
1 to the financial statements. No new accounting policies were adopted and the application of existing 
policies was not changed during the year. We noted no transactions entered into by City of Willits during the 
year for which there is a lack of authoritative guidance or consensus. There are no significant transactions that 
have been recognized in the financial statements in a different period than when the transaction occurred.

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are based 
on management’s knowledge and experience about past and current events and assumptions about future 
events. Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the financial 
statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ significantly from those 
expected. We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop the accounting estimates in 
determining that it is reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole. The most sensitive 
estimate(s) affecting the financial statements were:

 Accrual and disclosure of compensated absences;
 Capital asset lives and depreciation expense;
 Liability for solid waste landfill post closure costs;
 Pension plan actuarial assumptions;
 Accrual and disclosure of leases;
 Amortization of deferred costs;
 Fair value of investments and financial instruments.

Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit
We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management in performing and completing our 
audit.
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Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements
Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements identified during the 
audit, other than those that are trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate level of management. 
Management has corrected all such misstatements. Of the misstatements detected as a result of audit 
procedures and corrected by management most were material, either individually or in the aggregate, to the 
financial statements taken as a whole.

Disagreements with Management
For purposes of this letter, professional standards define a disagreement with management as a financial 
accounting, reporting, or auditing matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that could be significant 
to the financial statements or the auditors’ report. We are pleased to report that no such disagreements arose 
during the course of our audit.

Management Representations
We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the management 
representation letter dated January 25, 2016.

Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants
In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and accounting 
matters, similar to obtaining a “second opinion” on certain situations. If a consultation involves application of 
an accounting principle to City of Willits’ financial statements or a determination of the type of auditor’s 
opinion that may be expressed on those statements, our professional standards require the consulting 
accountant to check with us to determine that the consultant has all the relevant facts. To our knowledge, 
there were no such consultations with other accountants.

Other Audit Findings or Issues
We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing 
standards, with management each year, prior to retention as City of Willits’ auditors. However, these 
discussions occurred in the normal course of our professional relationship and our responses were not a 
condition to our retention.
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Current Year Observations

There were no current year observations.

Prior Years’ Observations

1) GASB 54 Formal Policy

Observation:

During the course of the audit we noted the City has not adopted a formal GASB 54 fund balance policy as 
discussed in the notes to the audited financial statements.

Recommendation:

We recommended the City formalize their fund balance policy and have it approved by the City Council.

Status:

This recommendation has not been implemented.

Management Response:

Management agrees that a formal, Council adopted fund balance policy is desirable for the City. Review of 
this recommendation will be on the task list for the new Finance Director.

2)  City Finance Committee

Observation:

Although not required by professional standards, the City Finance Committee does not perform periodic 
analysis of the City’s monthly financial statements with previous months or quarters as needed.

Recommendation:

The City’s Finance Committee provides oversight of the management of the City. The Finance Committee 
should compare current financial information with previous months, quarters, years and current budget as 
needed. Written responses from management should be provided to document explanation of fluctuations. 
The Finance Committee should be knowledgeable of the City’s internal control systems and policies and 
ensure the controls are working. 

Status:

This recommendation has not been implemented.

Management Response:

Management agrees that periodic review of monthly financial statements can be beneficial. Review of this 
recommendation will be on the task list for the new Finance Director.
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3) Pool Cash Collections

Observation:

During the course of our audit it was noted that controls over Pool Cash Receipts are weak. The Pool 
Manager does not use a sign-in sheet with a liability waiver. In addition, prenumbered duplicate copy cash 
receipts are not used for concession sales. A reconciliation of daily cash receipts to the related sign-in sheet 
and prenumbered cash receipts is not prepared.

Recommendation: 

We recommended the Pool Manager have all customers sign a sign-in sheet with a liability waiver. 
Prenumbered cash receipts should be given to customers of concession sales. Further, reconciliation should 
be prepared to reconcile cash receipts each day to the related sign-in sheet and copies of prenumbered cash 
receipts.

Status:

This recommendation has not been implemented.

Management Response:

Review of this recommendation will be on the task list for the new Finance Director.

4) Written Accounting, Administrative and Fraud Procedures Manual

Observation:

During the course of our audit it was noted that the City does not have a formal accounting, administrative 
and fraud procedures manual. This manual would document the City’s internal controls to safeguard assets 
and accounting records. This manual would also note the City’s policies regarding prevention, detection and 
deterrence of fraud and would serve as a training guide for new employees.

Recommendation: 

We recommended the City develop and maintain an up to date accounting, administrative policies and 
procedures manual.

Status:

The City completed a cash handling policy but has not formally documented the other controls over assets.

Management Response:

Management agrees that an up-to-date accounting, administrative policies and procedures manual is desirable. 
Review of this recommendation will be on the task list for the new Finance Director. Limitations of staff 
resources to prepare such a comprehensive manual may make this recommendation difficult to accomplish.
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5)   Non Recurring General Journal Entries and Bank Reconciliation Review

Observation:

During the course of the audit we noted that the review of non-recurring general journal entries was not 
always documented. We also noted the monthly bank reconciliations and related statements are not reviewed 
by someone outside the Finance Department.

Recommendation:

We recommended the Finance Committee and/or the City Manager perform a periodic review of non-
recurring journal entries, bank statements and related reconciliations. This control procedure will help 
mitigate the risk of management’s override of internal controls as well as collusion.

Status:

This recommendation has not been implemented.

Management Response:

Management agrees that periodic review of significant non-recurring journal entries, bank statements and 
related reconciliations, is a good procedure.  Review of this recommendation will be on the task list for the 
new Finance Director.

6)   Approval of Vendor Invoices

Observation:

During the course of the audit we noted that the approval of vendor invoices by a department head was not 
documented on the invoice.

Recommendation:

We recommend the City document the approval of vendor invoices by the appropriate department head by 
either initialing the invoice or an attached approval form.

Status:

This recommendation has been implemented.
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Item No. 4     
Meeting Date: March 21, 2016 

 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY REPORT 
 

To:   Honorable Mayor and Council Members 

From:  Susie Holmes, Finance Director/City Treasurer 

Agenda Title:   RENEWAL OF 3-YEAR TOTAL SERVICE AGREEMENT WITH ACS FOR ACCOUNTING 
SOFTWARE, HARDWARE, AND SUPPORT SERVICES 

Type:  Presentation    Consent    Regular Agenda    Public Hearing    Urgent   Time: 5 min. 

Summary of Request:   ACS/Xerox has provided accounting software, hardware, and support for the City 
since the year 2000. The current service agreement will expire at the end of March. This agreement 
includes an AS400 file server update and unlimited software support. On-site installation of the updated 
operating service and software is included in the agreement. We have experienced prompt response to 
requests for support in the past. 

Staff is interested in researching alternative financial systems, but that is a very expensive and time 
consuming project. If we decide to change vendors, we would need additional staff time and approximately 
18 months to convert our data and get a new system up and running. 

 

Recommended Action:  Approve renewal of 3-year Total Service Agreement with ACS/Xerox for 
accounting software, hardware, and support services. 

 

Alternative(s):  None recommended. 
 

Fiscal Impact:  The monthly support cost will increase by 4% each year during the 3-year agreement. See 
page 3 of the attached contract for annual cost. 

Personnel Impact:  ACS/Xerox will be on-site to update the operating system the file server and install the 
most recent upgrade to the software. This should take about 4 days, but the old hardware and software will 
be functional until the new system is installed, so there will be little, if any, downtime. 

Reviewed by:     City Manager    City Attorney    Finance Director    Human Resources    Risk 
 

Council Action:    Approved    Denied    Other: ________________________________________ 

Records:  Agreement    Resolution #_________    Ordinance #_________    Other _________ 

 

















Item No. 5 
Meeting Date: March 21, 2016 

 
AGENDA SUMMARY REPORT 

 
To:   Willits City Council Members 

From:  Medical Marijuana Regulation Ad Hoc Committee Members Mayor Bruce Burton and  
   Councilmember Larry Stranske 

Agenda Title:  REPORT AND RECOMMENDATION OF THE MEDICAL MARIJUANA REGULATION AD 
HOC COMMITTEE TO THE WILLITS CITY COUNCIL, AND REQUEST FOR DIRECTION TO CITY 
STAFF TO DRAFT AN ORDINANCE PROHIBITING ALL COMMERCIAL MEDICAL MARIJUANA USES, 
EXPRESSLY BANNING DELIVERIES, IN THE CITY AND PROHIBITING CULTIVATION FOR MEDICAL 
USE BY A QUALIFIED PATIENT OR PRIMARY CAREGIVER 

Type:  Presentation    Consent    Regular Agenda    Public Hearing    Urgent   Time: 60 min. 

Summary of Request:  The Medical Marijuana Regulation Ad Hoc Committee has carefully reviewed the 
recently enacted Medical Marijuana Regulation and Safety Act that regulates certain commercial medical 
marijuana related activities, including cultivation, processing, transportation, testing and sale of medical 
marijuana. The full text of the MMRSA is attached. The MMRSA acknowledges the right of local public 
agencies to prohibit the medical marijuana business enterprise activities that are now regulated and 
licensed under the Act. Thus, someone wanting to engage in the business of testing, sales, cultivation, etc., 
of medical marijuana within a City needs both a state license and a permit or other authorization from the 
City. The Committee members are of the view that the City of Willits should explicitly prohibit by ordinance 
the commercial marijuana related land uses and activities that are now allowed under the MMRSA, and 
that the City should also ban any further cultivation of medical use by qualified patients or primary 
caregivers. In this regard, Cities may also lawfully ban the non-commercial cultivation of medical marijuana. 

The Committee is of the view that the City of Willits has unfortunately developed a national reputation as a 
place associated with marijuana cultivation, culture and use; and that marijuana cultivation has become an 
intolerable nuisance for many persons within the City. The Committee also recognizes that the use, 
cultivation, possession, sale and distribution of any marijuana is unlawful under the Federal Controlled 
Substances Act. The Committee thus further recommends that the Willits Zoning Ordinance be amended to 
specifically provide that any land uses and activities that are unlawful under either state or federal law shall 
be prohibited within all zones of the City. 

Based on the foregoing, the Committee recommends adoption of an ordinance substantially similar to the 
attached ordinance of the City of Merced. Alternatively, the Committee recommends adoption of an 
ordinance similar to the attached ordinance of the City of Petaluma. 
 

Recommended Action:  Provide direction to City Staff concerning the drafting of a proposed new 
ordinance(s) regulating or banning activities and uses related to medical marijuana within the City of Willits, 
including cultivation. Upon providing direction staff can then draft the recommended ordinance and notice a 
pubic hearing for discussion and review before the Willits Planning Commission. 
 

Alternative(s): None recommended. 
 

Reviewed by:   City Manager    City Attorney  Finance Director    Human Resources    Risk 
 

Council Action:   Approved     Denied     Other: ________________________________________ 

Records:  Agreement    Resolution #_________    Ordinance #_________    Other _________ 
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Office of the City Attorney, City of Willits 

Memo   
To: Willits City Council 
From: H. James Lance, City Attorney 
Date: March 17, 2016 
Re: Potential Changes to WMC following Medical Marijuana Regulation 

and Safety Act 

Introduction 

This memo outlines some of the key provisions of the recently enacted Medical Marijuana 
Regulation and Safety Act (“MMRSA” or the “Act”)).  It also addresses the two existing medical 
marijuana related ordinances within the Willits Municipal Code (“WMC”). 

Summary of the Act 

On October 9, 2015 Governor Brown signed three bills into law (AB 266, AB 243 and SB 643) 
that collectively are known as the Medical Marijuana Regulation and Safety Act. The Act set up 
a State-licensing scheme for commercial medical marijuana uses while protecting local control 
by requiring that all such businesses must also have a local license or permit to operate in 
addition to a State license.  The Act allows cities to completely prohibit commercial medical 
marijuana activities.  The Act only addresses “medical marijuana” as recreational marijuana still 
remains illegal.  

Definitions under the Act 

Some of the more important definitions under the Act are: 

• Commercial cannabis activity - includes cultivation, possession, manufacture, 
processing, storing, laboratory testing, labeling, transporting, distribution, or sale of 
medical cannabis or a medical cannabis product related to qualifying patients and 
primary caregivers.  These distinct commercial cannabis enterprise activities are now 
subject to state regulation and licensure. The definition of commercial activity under the 
Act does not include the cultivation, possession, transportation, etc. of medical 
marijuana by a primary caregiver who does the same for no more than five specified 
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patients for which s/he is the primary caregiver; therefore such persons do not need 
state licenses under the Act.  

• Cultivation – means any activity including the planting, growing, harvesting, drying, 
curing, grading or trimming of cannabis. 

• Dispensary – means a facility where medical cannabis, medical cannabis products or 
devices for use of such products are offered for retail sale, including an establishment 
that delivers medical cannabis and medical cannabis products as part of a retail sale.  

• Delivery – means the commercial transfer of medical cannabis or medical cannabis 
products from a dispensary to a primary caregiver or qualified patient or testing 
laboratory.  Delivery also includes the use by a dispensary of any technology platform 
that it owns and controls or is independently licensed, that enables qualified patients or 
primary caregivers to arrange for or facilitate the commercial transfer by a licensed 
dispensary (i.e., an Uber type of platform) 

• Distributor – means a person licensed to engage in purchasing medical cannabis or 
medical cannabis products from a licensed cultivator or manufacturer for sale to a 
licensed dispensary.  

• Transport – means the transfer of medical cannabis or medical cannabis products 
between the permitted business locations of licensees for conducting commercial 
cannabis activities.  With limited exceptions, only licensed transports may transport 
medical cannabis or medical cannabis products between licensees.  

Licenses 

There are 17 different new state license categories within the MMRSA that break down into 
the following subcategories; licensees may only hold state licenses in up to 2 separate 
categories as specified: 

• Cultivation (10 types) – Note: no state license is needed under the Act for cultivation for 
personal medical use.  However, case law holds that a local government may ban this 
type of cultivation, although not all cities do.  [The WMC cultivation ordinance presently 
allows persons to cultivate up to 6 plants of medical marijuana as long as it is grown 
indoors or in a secure outbuilding that meets the code’s requirements].  

• Manufacturer – (2 types) 

• Testing 

• Dispensary (2 types) 
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• Distribution 

• Transporter 

Local Control 

The state licenses created by the Act do not supersede or limit existing local authority, 
including local zoning requirements.  Furthermore, cities can adopt additional standards and 
requirement for commercial cannabis activities provided that they are no less stringent than 
the state standards.  However, with respect to Delivery services the Act provides that if a city 
does not expressly prohibit the delivery of medical marijuana, delivery will be allowed with a 
state license to do so.  

Presently, WMC section 9.20 bans medical marijuana dispensaries in all zones of the city.  
The WMC defines medical marijuana dispensary as: 

“…any facility or location, whether fixed or mobile, where medical marijuana is made available 
to, distributed by, or distributed to two or more of the following: a qualified patient, a person 
with an identification card, or a primary caregiver.”  The specific reference to “mobile” facilities” 
appears to prohibit the use of a vehicle to transport or deliver medical marijuana to a qualified 
patient or caregiver.  The WMC does not address, however, the transportation or delivery of 
cannabis from a supplier to a laboratory for testing or the transportation from the lab to a 
dispensary or other distributor.  

 If the City Council intends to prohibit the delivery or transportation of medical marijuana then it 
is recommended that it do so by express prohibition even though the current ordinance bans 
mobile dispensaries.  Copies of the City’s existing ordinances regarding medical marijuana 
cultivation (WMC 17.86) and medical marijuana dispensaries (WMC 9.20) are attached. 

//// 
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EFFECTIVE DATE

OF ORDINANCE

February 25, 2016

Introduced by

Chris Albertson

ORDINANCE N0. 2563 N. C.S. 

Seconded by

Mike Healy

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF PETALUMA AMENDING CHAPTER 10. 15, 

MEDICAL MARIJUANA" OF THE CITY OF PETALUMA MUNICIPAL CODE PROHIBITING

DISPENSARIES IN THE CITY TO ALSO PROHIBIT SPECIFIED COMMERCIAL CANNABIS ACTIVITY, 

CULTIVATION AND DELIVERY OF MEDICAL MARIJUANA IN THE CITY OF PETALUMA

WHEREAS, in 1996 the voters of the state of California approved Proposition 215 which

was codified as Health and Safety Code Section 1 1362. 5, et seq., and entitled " The
Compassionate Use Act of 1996" (" CUA"); and

WHEREAS, the intent of the CUA was to enable persons who are in need of marijuana for

medical purposes to obtain and use it under limited, specific circumstances; and

WHEREAS, on January 1, 2004, Senate Bill 420, known as the " Medical Marijuana
Program" ( codified at Health and Safety Code Sections 11362. 7 through 11362.83) (" MMP") 

became effective to clarify the scope of the CUA; and

WHEREAS, the CUA is limited in scope in that it provides a defense from criminal

prosecution under state law for possession and cultivation of marijuana for qualified patients

and their primary caregivers; establishes a statewide identification program and affords

qualified patients, persons with identification cards and their primary caregivers an affirmative

defense to certain enumerated criminal sanctions that would otherwise apply to transporting, 
processing, administering or distributing marijuana; and

WHEREAS, neither the CUA nor the MMP requires or imposes an affirmative duty or
mandate upon local governments, such as the City of Petaluma, to allow, authorize or sanction

the establishment and the operation of facilities cultivating, distributing, or processing medical
marijuana within their boundaries; and

WHEREAS, on May 5, 2013, the California Supreme Court issued its opinion in City of
Riverside v. Inland Empire Patients Health and Wellness Center, Inc., (2013) 56 CalAth 729, which

held that neither the CUA nor the MMP expressly or impliedly preempts the authority of California
cities and counties, under their traditional land use and police powers, to restrict, limit, or entirely
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1 exclude facilities that distribute medical marijuana, and to enforce such policies by nuisance
2 actions; and

3

4 WHEREAS, on November 26, 2013, the Third District Court of Appeal issued its opinion in

5 Maral v. City of Live Oak (2013) 221 Cal.App.4th 975, which held that the CUA and the MMP do
6 not preempt a city' s police power to prohibit the cultivation of all marijuana within that city; and
7

8 WHEREAS, during the 2014/ 2015 legislative session, the Legislature enacted three bills

9 regulating medical marijuana collectively entitled the " Medical Marijuana Regulation and
10 Safety Act" (" MMRSA"): AB -243, AB- 266, and SB -643; and

11

12 WHEREAS, Health and Safety Code Section 11362. 777, which is part of the MMRSA, 
13 provides in subdivision ( b) that cultivation of medical marijuana prior to obtaining both a permit

14 from the city, county or city and county in which the cultivation will occur and a state license is
15 prohibited, and that if a city, county, or city and county does not have land use regulations or
16 ordinances regulating or prohibiting the cultivation of marijuana, either expressly or otherwise
17 under principles of permissive zoning, then commencing March 1, 2016 the state will be the sole
18 licensing authority for medical marijuana cultivation applicants in that city, county, or city and
19 county; and

20

21 WHEREAS, Health and Safety Code Section 11362. 777 provides in subdivision (g) that that
22 section does not apply to qualified patients cultivating marijuana pursuant to Health and Safety
23 Code Section 11362. 5 in cultivation areas that do not exceed 100 square feet for their personal

24 medical use and not for sale, distribution, donation, or provision to any other person or entity, or

25 to primary care givers cultivating marijuana pursuant to Health and Safety Code Section 11362.5
26 in cultivation areas that do not exceed 500 square feet exclusively for the personal medical use
27 of not more than five specified qualified patients for whom they are the primary caregiver within
28 the meaning of Health and Safety Code Section 11362. 7 without compensation except in full
29 compliance with Health and Safety Code section 11362, 765, subdivision ( c); and

30

31 WHEREAS, Health and Safety Code Section 11362. 777 further provides in subdivision ( g) 

32 that the exemptions from the requirements of that section do not prevent a city, county or city

33 and county from regulating or banning the cultivation, storage, manufacture, transport, 
34 provision or other activity by the exempt person, or impair the enforcement of that regulation or
35 ban; and

36

37 WHEREAS, Business and Professions Code Section 19340, which is part of the MMRSA, 

38 provides in subdivision ( a) that medical marijuana deliveries as defined can only be made by a
39 dispensary and in a city, county or city and county that does not explicitly prohibit it by a local
40 ordinance; and

41

42 WHEREAS, on December 1, 2015, the Fifth District Court of Appeal issued its opinion in

43 Kirby v. County of Fresno, ( 2015), which upheld a county ordinance banning medical marijuana
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dispensaries, cultivation and storage, but invalidated the ordinance' s classification of local

medical marijuana cultivation as a misdemeanor, holding that section 113662. 71 of the MMP
preempts local criminalization of medical marijuana cultivation; and

WHEREAS, although the court in Kirby v. County of Fresno invalidated on preemption

grounds the local criminalization of medical marijuana cultivation as a misdemeanor, the court

noted that local prosecution of the failure to abate a public nuisance involving medical

marijuana cultivation is not preempted, because the Legislature recognizes the failure to abate

a public nuisance after notice as a separate crime; and

WHEREAS, in 2007 the Petaluma City Council adopted Chapter 10. 15 of the Petaluma

Municipal Code prohibiting medical marijuana dispensaries in the City to promote the public

health, safety and welfare and protect citizens from impacts associated with medical marijuana

dispensaries, including, but not limited to, increased public consumption of marijuana and the
potential for increased marijuana DUls, illegal resale of marijuana obtained at low cost from

dispensaries, loitering, fraud in obtaining or use of medical marijuana identification cards, 

robbery, assaults and other crimes, and increased demands for police response resulting from

activities at medical marijuana dispensaries reducing the ability of the City' s public safety
officers to respond to other calls for service; and

WHEREAS, marijuana remains an illegal substance under the Federal Controlled

Substances Act, 21 U. S. C. 801, et seq., which makes it unlawful for any person to cultivate, 
manufacture, distribute, dispense, or possess with intent to manufacture, distribute or dispense

marijuana for any reason, even though state law decriminalizes under specified state laws
specified use of medical marijuana by specified persons; and

WHEREAS, the City of Petaluma Police Department, City residents and other public

entities have reported adverse impacts from the outdoor cultivation of marijuana within the City, 

including offensive odors, increased risk of trespassing and burglary, and acts of violence in
connection with the commission of such crimes or the occupants' attempts to prevent such

crimes; and

WHEREAS, the strong odor of marijuana plants, which increases as the plants mature, is

offensive to many individuals and creates an attractive nuisance, alerting people to the

location of valuable marijuana plants and creating an increased risk of crime; and

WHEREAS, Petaluma has experienced structure fires and building damage threatening

the quality and safety of City neighborhoods as a result of indoor marijuana cultivation within the

City, with 7 such incidents occurring between December, 2010 and May, 2015, and a total of 33

structure fires within the Sonoma County area have been attributed to illegal indoor marijuana
cultivation operations; and
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WHEREAS, Petaluma has experienced property loss valued at approximately $344,000, 

and the Sonoma County area has suffered property loss estimated at. approximately $ 1, 693,000

as a result of commercial cannabis activity, due to such causes as substandard wiring and

electrical systems, grow lights, and use of butane to illegally extract hash oil; and

WHEREAS, to protect the public health, safety, and welfare, it is the desire of the City

Council to add to existing provisions in the City of Petaluma Municipal Code prohibiting medical

marijuana dispensaries new provisions prohibiting cultivation, commercial cannabis activity, and

delivery of marijuana within the City, subject to specified exceptions; and

WHEREAS, it is the Council' s intention that nothing in this chapter shall be deemed to

conflict with federal law as contained in the Controlled Substances Act, 21 U. S. C. Section 841, by

permitting, or otherwise authorizing, any activity which is lawfully and constitutionally prohibited
under that law; and

WHEREAS, mindful of the fact that marijuana possession and use is prohibited under

federal law and partially decriminalized under state law, it is the Council' s intention that nothing

in this chapter shall be construed, in any way, to expand the rights of anyone to use or possess

marijuana under state law; engage in any public nuisance; violate federal law, or engage in

any activity in relation to the cultivation, distribution, or consumption of marijuana that is
otherwise illegal; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF PETALUMA AS

FOLLOWS: 

Section 1: Chapter 10. 15, Medical Marijuana, of the Petaluma Municipal Code is hereby

amended as follows: 

Section 10. 15. 010, Purpose, is hereby amended to read as follows: 

Section 10. 15.010 Purpose. 

The purpose of this chapter is to promote the public health, safety and welfare by: 

A. Protecting citizens from the secondary impacts associated with medical

marijuana dispensaries and commercial cannabis activity, including, but not limited to, 
increased public consumption of marijuana and the potential for increased marijuana

DUls, illegal resale of marijuana obtained at low cost from dispensaries, loitering, fraud in

obtaining or use of medical marijuana identification cards, robbery, assaults, and other

crimes. 

B. Protecting citizens from secondary impacts associated with commercial cannabis

activity such as medical marijuana cultivation, including, but not limited to, electrical fires
and ignition of chemical substances utilized in the cultivation process, crimes occurring
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at grow sites, and neighborhood concerns regarding odors, late night traffic, and related
nuisances. 

C. Protecting citizens from secondary impacts of medical marijuana delivery, 

including, but not limited to, delivery for recreational use, delivery of quantities of

marijuana exceeding the reasonable requirements of qualified patients and primary

caregivers, delivery during nighttime hours, and delivery by minors. 

D. Preventing increased demands for police response resulting from activities at

medical marijuana dispensaries and cultivation sites, commercial cannabis activity and

medical marijuana delivery and thereby avoiding reduction in the ability of the city' s

public safety officers to respond to other calls for service. 

Section 10. 15.020 Definitions is hereby amended to read as follows: 

Commercial cannabis activity" means cultivation, possession, manufacture, processing, 

storing, laboratory testing, labeling, transporting, distribution, or sale of medical cannabis or a
medical cannabis product, except as set forth in California Business and Professions Code

Section 19319, related to qualifying patients and primary caregivers, in accordance with the
definition in California Business and Professions Code Section 19300. 5, subdivision ( k), as that

section and subdivision may be amended or interpreted by the California courts or

superseded by any successor statute. 

Cultivation" means any activity involving the planting, growing, harvesting, drying, curing, 

grading, or trimming of cannabis, in accordance with the definition in California Business and
Professions Code Section 19300.5, subdivision ( 1), as that section and subdivision may be

amended or interpreted by the California courts or superseded by any successor statute. 

Delivery" means the commercial transfer of medical cannabis or medical cannabis

products from a dispensary up to an amount determined by the Bureau of Medical

Marijuana Regulation to a primary caregiver or a qualified patient as defined in Section

11362. 7 of the California Health and Safety Code , or a testing laboratory, in accordance
with the definition in California Business and Professions Code section 19300.5, subdivision

m), as that section and subdivision may be amended or interpreted by the California courts

or superseded by any successor statute. 

Dispensary" means a facility where medical cannabis, medical cannabis products, or
devices for the use of medical cannabis or medical cannabis products are offered, either

individually, or in any combination, for retail sale, including an establishment that delivers, 

pursuant to express authorization by local ordinance, medical cannabis and medical
cannabis products as part of a retail sale, in accordance with the definition in California

Business and Professions Code Section 19300.5, subdivision ( n), as that section and

subdivision may be amended or interpreted by the California courts or superseded by any
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1 successor statute. Dispensary does not include the following uses, so long as the location of
2 such uses is otherwise regulated by and strictly complies with this code and other applicable

3 law, including California Health and Safety Code Sections 11362.5 and 11362. 7, et seq, as

4 such sections may be amended from time to time: 

29

30

31
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36
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40
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42

A. A clinic licensed pursuant to Chapter 1 of Division 2 of the Health and Safety Code, 

B. A health care facility licensed pursuant to Chapter 2 of Division 2 of the Health and

Safety Code. 

C. A residential care facility for persons with chronic life- threatening illness licensed pursuant

to Chapter 3.01 of Division 2 of the Health and Safety Code. 

D. A residential care facility for the elderly licensed pursuant to Chapter 3.2 of Division 2 of

the Health and Safety Code. 

E. The delivery, administration or provision of medical marijuana by a designated primary

caregiver to the qualified patient of the primary caregiver or to the person with an

identification card who has designated the individual as a primary caregiver at the

primary residence of the qualified patient or person with an identification card who has
designated the individual as a primary caregiver. 

Fully enclosed and secure structure" means a code compliant space within a building, 
greenhouse or other structure which has a complete roof enclosure supported by

connecting walls extending from the ground to the roof, which is secure against

unauthorized entry, provides complete visual screening, and which is accessible only
through one or more locking doors. 

Mature plant" means a plant that has flowers, or is more than 12 inches wide, or more than

12 inches tall. 

Primary caregiver" shall have the same definition as set forth in California Health and Safety

Code Section 1 1362. 7, as it may be amended or superseded by any successor statute, 

and as interpreted by the California courts, including but not limited to the California
Supreme Court case of People v. Mentch (2008) 45 Cal. 4th 274. 

Qualified patient" shall have the same definition as set forth in California Health and Safety

Code Section 1 1362. 7, as it may be amended or superseded by any successor statute, 

and as interpreted by the California courts. 

Residence" means a legal dwelling unit and all detached structures such as garages, 

sheds, greenhouses, and other structures on the same legal parcel( s) as the dwelling unit. 

Section 10. 15. 030, Prohibition of medical marijuana dispensaries, is hereby amended to read

as follows: 

4
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10. 15.030 Prohibition of Medical Marijuana Dispensaries and Commercial Cannabis

Activity

It shall be unlawful for any person to engage in, conduct or carry on, or to permit to be

engaged in, conducted or carried on, in the City of Petaluma, the operation of a

dispensary or commercial cannabis activity except as otherwise expressly provided in this
chapter. 

Section 10. 15.040, Establishment or maintenance of medical marijuana dispensaries

declared a public nuisance, is hereby repealed in its entirety and replaced with: 

10. 15. 040 Prohibition of Medical Marijuana Cultivation

It shall be unlawful for any person to engage in, conduct or carry on, or to permit to be

engaged in, conducted or carried on, in the City of Petaluma, the cultivation of

marijuana other than: 

1. Indoor cultivation that is solely for the personal use of one qualified patient and

that at all times remains an accessory use to the primary residence of either the qualified

patient or his or her primary caregiver; where the cultivation area does not exceed 50% 

or 100 square feet of the non -living or garage area of the residence, or a lesser amount

in accordance with paragraph 2 of this section, whichever is less; that does not displace

any required on-site parking; that is within a fully -enclosed and secure structure with no

visual or olfactory evidence of cultivation detectable from the public right of way or

other private property; that does not utilize lighting that exceeds 1, 200 watts; that does
not require the use of an electric generator; and that does not use gas products (CO2, 

butane, etc.); and

2. Outdoor cultivation that is solely for the personal use of one qualified patient that

at all times remains an accessory use to the primary residence of either the qualified

patient or his or her primary caregiver; where the cultivation area does not exceed 100
square feet, or a lesser amount so that the total cultivation area pursuant to this section

including indoor and outdoor cultivation at the residence does not exceed a combined
total of 100 square feet; that does not exceed three (3) mature plants, with no visual or

olfactory evidence of cultivation detectable from the public right of way or other private

property; that does not utilize lighting that exceeds 1, 200 watts; that does not require the
use of an electric generator; and that does not use gas products ( CO2, butane, etc.). 

Section 10. 15. 050, Prohibition of Medical Marijuana Delivery, is hereby added to read as
follows: 

10. 15.050 Prohibition of Medical Marijuana Delivery
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It shall be unlawful for any person to engage in, conduct or carry on, or to permit to be
engaged in, conducted or carried on, in the City of Petaluma, the delivery of medical

marijuana, except for delivery of medical marijuana: 

From a dispensary outside the city that is operating in accordance with
applicable state and local law to a qualified patient or primary caregiver within the city

in accordance with the requirements of Health and Safety Code Section 19340, any

successor statute, and any regulations promulgated under California Health and Safety

Code Section 19340 or any successor statute, where: 

1. Persons delivering medical marijuana in the city possess no more than 1 pound of

medical marijuana at any time while making medical marijuana deliveries in the city; 
and

2. The delivery is carried out by a person at least 18 years of age; and

3. The delivery occurs between the hours of 8:00 a. m. and 8:00 p. m. 

Section 10. 15.060, Prohibition of Medical Marijuana Entitlements is hereby added to read as

follows: 

Section 10. 15. 060, Prohibition of Medical Marijuana Entitlements

24 No medical marijuana dispensary, commercial cannabis activity, medical marijuana

25 cultivation operation, or medical marijuana delivery operation, however described by
26 the applicant, will eligible for or be issued any entitlement, license or permit to operate in
27 the city, or have any such entitlement renewed, including, but not limited to, any
28 business license or home occupation permit, and any such application shall be denied

29 citing this section. 

30

31 Section 10. 15. 0700, Public Nuisance, is hereby added to read as follows: 
32

33 Section 10. 15. 070 Public Nuisance. Any medical marijuana dispensary, commercial

34 cannabis activity, cultivation, delivery or other use or activity caused or permitted to exist
35 in the city in violation of any provision of this chapter shall be and is hereby declared a
36 public nuisance. Violations of this chapter may be enforced by any applicable laws or

37 ordinances, including, but not limited to, Chapter 1. 10 of this code. 

38

39 Section 2: The City Council finds that adoption of this ordinance is exempt from the
40 California Environmental Quality Act (" CEQA"), pursuant to Section 15061( b) (3) of the CEQA

41 Guidelines (Title 14, Chapter 3 of the California Code of Regulations) because there is no

42 possibility that the activity may have a significant impact on the environment. 
43
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Section 3: If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase or word of this ordinance is for

any reason held to be unconstitutional, unlawful or otherwise invalid by a court of competent

jurisdiction or preempted by state legislation, such decision or legislation shall not affect the

validity of the remaining portions of this ordinance. The City Council of the City of Petaluma

hereby declares that it would have passed and adopted this ordinance and each and all

provisions thereof irrespective of the fact that any one or more of said provisions be declared
unconstitutional, unlawful or otherwise invalid. 

Section 4: The City Clerk is hereby directed to publish or post this ordinance or a synopsis for

the period and in the manner provided by the City Charter and any other applicable law. 

INTRODUCED and ordered posted/ published this 4th day of January, 2016. 

ADOPTED this 25th day of January, 2016 by the following vote: 

Ayes: Albertson, Healy, Kearney, Vice Mayor King, Miller
Noes: Barrett

Abstain: None

Absent: Mayor Glass

Dave King, Vice M/

01

ayor

ATTEST: APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

t

Claire Cooper, City Clerk

F s

t}

1

Eric W. Danly, City_Attorney
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